SPECIAL BIBLIOGRAPHY SERIES

Roles and Missions of the U.S. Armed Forces

October 1995



AIR UNIVERSITY LIBRARY

Maxwell Air Force Base, Alabama

Roles and Missions of the U.S. Armed Forces Selected References

Selected Bibliography No. 309

Compiled by

Melrose M. Bryant

Air University Library Maxwell Air Force Base, Alabama 36112-6424 October 1995

SPECIAL BIBLIOGRAPHY SERIES

The Special Bibliography Series provides students, faculty, analysts, and area specialists with comprehensive subject coverage of major topics and geographical areas addressed in the curricula and research programs of the Air University. Compiled and edited by the staff of the Air University Library, each bibliography reflects selected book holdings (including GPO publications); periodical articles; and military and defense document holdings present in the library's collection. The series began in 1953. Since that time, over 1500 individual titles have been published.

This special bibliography on the Roles and Missions of the Armed Forces was compiled by Melrose M. Bryant, retired bibliographer, and edited by Stephen Chun, bibliographic liaison to the College for Aerospace Doctrine, Research and Education.

Contents

General Information	1
Background Information	13
Commission on Roles and Missions	17
Debate on the Issues: June 1994 - September 1994	19
Debate on the Issues: October 1994 - December 1994	20
Debate on the Issues: January 1995 - May 1995	2 3
The Final Report, May 1995	2 5
Air Force Roles and Missions	27
Army Roles and Missions	34
Navy Roles and Missions	37
Marine Corps Roles and Missions	40

Roles and Missions of the U.S.Armed Forces

General Information

Books

American Defense Annual 1993. Edited by Joseph Kruzel. Eighth Edition. New York, Lexington Books, 1993. 357p.

Book call no.: R 355.033073 A5121 8th ed. 1993

Chapter 8. Rethinking Key West: Service Roles and Missions after the Cold War, by Peter D. Feaver and Kurt M. Campbell, pp154-173.

The American Military in the Twenty-First Century, by Barry M. Blechman, William J. Durch, David R. Graham, John H. Henshaw, Pamela L. Reed, Victor A. Utgoff and Steven A. Wolfe. New York, St Martin's Press, 1993. 498p.

Book call no.: 355.033573 A5125

Chapter 1. Leaving Key West: The Struggle To Rationalize Roles and Missions, by Steven A. Wolfe, pp1-53.

Builder, Carl H. The Masks of War: American Military Styles in Strategy and Analysis. Baltimore, Johns Hopkins University Press, 1989. 240p. (A RAND Corporation Research Study). Book call no.: 355.033573 B932m

Notes, pp207-229; Bibliography, pp231-234; Index, pp235-240.

Center for Naval Analyses. Who Will Do What with What: Defining U.S. Navy and Marine Corps Roles, Functions, and Missions, by Adam B. Siegel. Alexandria, VA, May 1993. 28p. (CNA Occasional Paper).

Book call no.: 359 S571w

Why Today's Debate? pp20-23.

Cordesman, Anthony H. <u>US Defense Policy: Resources and Capabilities</u>. London, The Royal United Services Institute for Defence Studies, 1994. 70p.

Book call no.: 355.033573 C794u

The Bottom Up Review Process: 'Bottom Up' Versus 'Top Down,' pp19-33.

The Strategic Impact of the Bottom-Up Review, pp34-58.

American Strategy in Transition, pp59-68.

The Future of American Strategy and Forces: The 'Bottom Line' of the Bottom Up Review, pp69-70.

The Henry L. Stimson Center. <u>Key West Revisited: Roles and Missions of the U.S. Armed Forces in the Twenty-First Century</u>, by Barry M. Blechman and others. Washington, Mar 1993. 32p. (Report No.8, 1993).

Book call no.: 355.30973 K44

International Institute for Strategic Studies. <u>European Security after the Cold War</u>. Papers from the 35th Annual Conference of the IISS held in Brussels, Belgium, from 9 to 12 September 1993. London, Brassey's (UK), 1994. 2 vols. (Adelphi Paper 284).

Book call no.: 909.82 I61a no.284

Forces and Alliances for a New Era, by Les Aspin, Part II, pp72-76.

Krepinevich, Andrew F. <u>The Bottom-Up Review: An Assessment</u>. Washington, Defense Budget Project, Feb 1994. 63p.

Book call no.: 355.033073 K92b

Krepinevich, Andrew F. <u>Restructuring for a New Era: Framing the Roles & Missions Debate</u>. Washington, Defense Budget Project, Apr 1995. 67 p.

Book call no.: 355.43 K92r

Miller, Paul D., ADM, USN. <u>Both Swords & Plowshares: Military Roles in the 1990s</u>. Washington, Institute for Foreign Policy Analysis, 1992. 58p. (National Security Paper

Number 10).

Book call no.: 355.033573 M649b

New Challenges for Defense Planning: Rethinking How Much Is Enough. Edited by Paul K. Davis. Santa Monica, CA, Rand Corp., 1994. 769p. (MR-400-RC).

Book call no.: 355.03 N5322

This book contains 23 papers describing RAND studies of defense planning issues for the post-Cold War era.

Nunn, Sam. <u>Domestic Missions for the Armed Forces</u>. Carlisle Barracks, PA, Strategic Studies Institute, U.S. Army War College, 1993. 23p.

Book call no.: 355.033573 N972d

Report of the Secretary of Defense to the President and the Congress. Les Aspin, Secretary of Defense. Washington, GPO, Jan 1994. 284p. w/Appendices A-G.

Book call no.: 353.6 D419a 1994

The Bottom-Up Review-Force Structure and Critical Enhancements, pp11-27.

- U.S. Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. Joint History Office. <u>The Development of the Base Force, 1989-1992</u>. Researched by Lorna S. Jaffe. Washington, Jul 1993. 60p. Book call no.: 355.033573 J23d
- U.S. Congress. House. Committee on Armed Services. Roles and Missions of Close Air Support. Hearing before the Investigations Subcommittee, held September 27, 1990. 101st Cong, 2nd sess. Washington, GPO, 1991. 55p.

 Book call no.: 358.4142 U58r
- U.S. Congress. House. Committee on Armed Services. Roles, Missions and Functions of the Armed Forces of the United States. Hearing before the Committee on Armed Services.
 103rd Cong, 1st sess. Washington, GPO, Feb 1993. 197p.
 Book call no.: 355.00973 U58rb
- U.S. Congress. House. Committee on Armed Services. The Use of Force in the Post-Cold War Era. Hearings... 103rd Cong, 1st sess. Washington, GPO, 1993. 106p. Book call no.: 355.033573 U582u
- U.S. Congress. Senate. Committee on Appropriations. <u>Department of Defense Appropriations</u> for Fiscal Year 1994. Hearings... 103rd Cong, 1st sess. Washington, GPO, Apr 1993. 311p. Book call no.: R 353.6 C7496d 1994 pt.1

Part 1. Department of Defense:

Department of the Air Force.

Department of the Army.

Department of the Navy.

Global Overview.

Office of the Deputy Secretary of Defense.

U.S. Congress. Senate. Committee on Armed Services. <u>Department of Defense Authorization for Appropriations for Fiscal Year 1995 and the Future Years Defense Program: Part 1</u>. Hearings... 103rd Cong, 2nd sess. Washington, GPO, 1994. 1026p.

Book call no.: R 353.6 U587dh 1995 pt.1

Structure Levels in the Bottom-Up Review; Testimony of Hon. Edward L. Warner, III and RADM Francis W. Lacroix, USN, pp687-753.

U.S. Department of Defense. <u>The Bottom-Up Review: Forces for a New Era.</u> Washington, Sep 1993. 17p.

Book call no.: R 355.03 A841b Les Aspin, Secretary of Defense

U.S. Department of Defense. <u>Report on the Bottom-Up Review</u>. Les Aspin, Secretary of Defense. Washington, Oct 1993. 109p.

Book call no.: R 355.033073 A84lba

Section VII. Roles and Missions, pp85-89.

U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff. <u>Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff Report on the Roles, Missions, and Functions of the Armed Forces of the United States</u>. Washington, Feb 1993. 1 vol. Book call no.: 355.00973 P882c

General Colin L. Powell, Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff.

Documents

Air University. Airpower Research Institute. Annotated Bibliography for Roles and Missions. Edited by Dr. Jim Titus and Major Jim Forsyth. Maxwell AFB, AL, College of Aerospace Doctrine, Research, and Education, May 1994. 18p. Doc. call no.: M-U 37097-44 4 May 94

Anglin, Roger I., LtCol, USA. <u>Roles and Missions: Is It Time for Another Key West Agreement?</u> Carlisle Barracks, PA, U.S. Army War College, Apr 1993. 33p. (USAWC Military Studies Program Paper).

Doc. call no.: M-U 39080-83 A589r

Arnold, Thomas E., LCDR,USN. <u>Employment of Non-Navy Aviation in Support of Maritime Operations in Littoral Regions</u>. Newport, RI, Nov 1993. 40p. (Naval War College. Paper). Doc. call no.: M-U 41662 A759e

Barach, Steven E., LtCol, USAF. American Air Power: Multiple Services or Multiple

Capabilities? Fort McNair, DC, 1993. 35p. (Industrial College of the Armed Forces.

Executive Research Project S89, 1993).

Doc. call no.: M-U 42942 B223a

Builder, Carl H. Rethinking National Security and the Role of the Military. Santa Monica, CA,
 RAND, 1995. 26 p. (RAND paper)
 Doc. call no.: M-U 30352-16 no.7943

Institute for National Strategic Studies. Non-Combat Roles for the U.S. Military in the Post-Cold War Era, edited by James R. Graham. Washington, National Defense University Press, 1993. 133p.

Doc. call no.: M-U 43359-20

Library of Congress. Congressional Research Service. <u>Defense Spending: Does the Size of the Budget Fit the Size of the Force?</u> By Stephen Daggett. Washington, Feb 1994. 34p. (CRS Report for Congress 94-199 F).

Doc. call no.: M-U 42953-1 no.94-199 F

Library of Congress. Congressional Research Service. <u>Four U.S. "Air Forces": Overlap and Alternatives</u>, by Allan W. Howey. Washington, Sep 1993. 56p. (CRS Report for Congress 93-823 F).

Doc. call no.: M-U 42953-1 no.93-823 F

Library of Congress. Congressional Research Service. Navy Carrier-Based Fighter and Attack Aircraft: Modernization Options for Congress, by Ronald O'Rourke. Washington, Oct 1993. 56p. (CRS Report for Congress 93-868 F).

Doc. call no.: M-U 42953-1 no.93-868 F

Navy and Air Force Tactical Air Roles, pp40-41.

Library of Congress. Congressional Research Service. Roles and Functions of U.S. Combat Forces-Past, Present, and Prospects, by John M. Collins. Washington, Jan 1993. 112p. (CRS Report for Congress 93-72 S).

Doc. call no.: M-U 42953-1 no.93-72 S

Lutz, Stephen M., LtCol,USA. <u>Reconstitution of the Base Force of 1995: Plan or Placebo?</u> Fort Leavenworth, KS, May 1993. 60p. (U.S. Army Command and General Staff College. School of Advanced Military Studies. Monograph).

Doc. call no.: M-U 42022-2 L975r

Quinn, John T., II, Capt, USMC. <u>Toward a New Strategic Framework: A Unified Command Plan</u> for the New World Order. Monterey, CA, Dec 1993. 194p. (Naval Postgraduate School. Master of Arts in National Security Affairs Thesis).

Doc. call no.: M-U 42525 Q71t

Appendix A. Roles and Missions: A Proposal, pp165-177.

Robinson, Michal R., LtCol,USA. <u>Cosmetics or Radical Surgery: What's Right for the Top</u>
<u>Levels of the U.S. Defense Establishment as It Downsizes?</u> Carlisle Barracks, PA, Apr 1993.
45p. (U.S. Army War College. Military Studies Program Paper).

Doc. call no.: M-U 39080-83 R663c

"The paper addresses: why the paradigm of roles and missions for independent services is increasingly dysfunctional; why change is needed, particularly organizational structural reform; what can be learned from some of our allies who have reorganized their military establishments; what corporate experience may suggest, based on the experience of large U.S. corporations which have successfully downsized; and who might be the agent of change."

U.S. Advanced Research Projects Agency. Report of the Senior Working Group on Military Operations Other Than War (OOTW). Carl Stiner, Gen, USA, Isaac Fulwood, Sayre Stevens, and Joe Lutz. Arlington, VA, May 1994. 1 vol.

Doc. call no.: M-U 41779-33

U.S. Armed Forces Staff College. <u>Service Warfighting Philosophy and Synchronization of Joint Forces</u>. Norfolk, VA, Aug 1992. 1 vol. (AFSC Pub 2).

Doc. call no.: M-U 36185-22 no.2 Aug 92

- U.S. Dept of Defense. Defense Planning Guidance, FY 1994-1999 (U). Washington, May 1992. 1
- U.S. Dept of Defense. <u>Functions of the Department of Defense and Its Major Components</u>. Washington, Sep 25, 1987. 22p. (DoD Directive 5100.1). Doc. call no.: M-U 38005 no.5100.1 Sep 87
- U.S. General Accounting Office. <u>Bottom-Up Review: Analysis of Key DOD Assumptions.</u>
 Washington, Jan 1995. 69p. (GAO/NSIAD-95-56).
 Doc. call no.: M-U 41026-147 no.95-56
- U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff. <u>Unified Action Armed Forces (UNAAF)</u>. Washington, May 1994. I vol. (Joint Pub 0-2).

 Doc. call no.: M-U 40592 no.0-2 9 May 94

Periodicals:

- Becton, Julius, LtGen, USA (Ret). Readiness Challenges of the Future. <u>Activities Report</u> 46, no.2:112-119 '94.
- Binnendijk, Hans and Clawson, Patrick. Assessing U.S. Strategic Priorities. <u>Joint Force Quarterly</u> No.6:10-17 Autumn-Winter '94-'95.

 U.S. Priorities, pp15-16.

 Implications for the Armed Forces, pp16-17
- Blackwell, James A., Jr. Roles, Missions, & Functions for National Security Emergency Preparedness. <u>Parameters</u> 24:77-84 Summer '94.
- Boatman, John. JCS Review Continues Despite Commission. <u>Jane's Defence Weekly</u> 21:16 Mar 26 '94.
- Boatman, John. USA Redefines CAS Doctrine for a New Era of Warfare. <u>Jane's Defence Weekly</u> 18:17 Dec 12 '92.

According to Gen Mike Loh, Commander of the USAF Air Combat Command: "One of our goals is to try not to be involved in close air support, to try and do a better job a little deeper so that you can, with airborne battlefield surveillance and other equipment, avoid direct contact with the forward line of troops, and relieve to a great extent the army's direct contact. That's where we can make a tremendous contribution."

Borosage, Robert L. Inventing the Threat: Clinton's Defense Budget (the Bottom Up Review does not so much reinvent the military to meet a changed threat as it reinvents the threat to fit the existing military). World Policy Journal 10:7-15 Winter '93-'94.

- Bottom-Up Review 'No Longer Credible,' Spence Says. <u>Aerospace Daily</u> 173:163-164 Feb 2 '95. "House National Security Committee Chairman Floyd Spence (R-S.C.) said that the Committee's approval of a bipartisan commission to review defense needs, despite Defense Secretary William J. Perry's strong objections, serves notice that the (Pentagon's) Bottom-Up Review is no longer credible."
- Builder, Carl H. Roles & Missions: Back to the Future. <u>Joint Force Quarterly</u> No.4:32-37 Spring '94.
- Canan, James W. The Instrument of Airpower: The Air Force Held Its Own, and Then Some, in General Powell's Roles and Mission Report. The Debate, However, Is Far from Over. <u>Air</u> Force Magazine 76:12-13+ Apr '93.
- Cohen, Eliot A. Beyond 'Bottom Up.' National Review 45:40-43 Nov 15 '93.
- Cohen, Eliot. A. Down the Hatch: Dump the Bottom-Up Review. New Republic 210:14-19 Mar 7 '94.
- Cohen, Eliot. A. What To Do about National Defense. Commentary 98:21-32 Nov '94.
- Commentary: Adieu to Bottom-Up. <u>Defense News</u> 9:42 Sep 5-11 '94.

 "If there is a lesson out of the furor over the Aug 18 memo from John Deutch, deputy defense secretary, threatening to ax 10 programs, it is that the bottom-up review has drawn its last breath."
- Correll, John T. The Bottom-Down Review. Editorial. Air Force Magazine 76:2 Dec '93.
- Correll, John T. The Destruction of National Defense. Editorial. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 76:4 May '93.

 The Defense Cut Doubles, by Brian Green, p12.
- Correll, John T. Hawkish Moves, Dovish Means: If the Two-Conflict Strategy Is Overblown, How Do You Account for Simultaneous War Warnings to Serbia and North Korea? Editorial. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 77:2 Apr '94.
- Correll, John T. The High-Risk Military Strategy: The Two-War Standard Is Reasonable, but the Defense Program Is Too Thin and Rests on Too Many Optimistic Assumptions. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 77:34-42 Sep '94.
- Correll, John T. Roles and Missions Ride Again (... How do the individual services provide core fighting capabilities to a Joint Force commander?). <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 78:10-12 Feb '95.
- Cushman, John H., LtGen, USA(Ret). Roles and Missions-Again. <u>U.S. Naval Institute</u>

 <u>Proceedings</u> 120:9 Jul '94.

 See Cushman, "Roles and Missions-Again," <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u>, pp2223 Aug '94.
- Defense Planning for a Changed and Still Changing World. F.A.S. Public Interest Report 47:9-12 Nov-Dec '94.
 - Contents: Reagan-Cold War and JCS Minimum Risk Forces; Bush-"After-the-Fall" Base Force; Desert Storm-A New Standard; Clinton-Bottom Up Review; \$200 Billion Alternatives; \$150 Billion Alternatives; \$75 Billion Alternatives; The One-Percent Solution: A Fit with the Facts.

- Di Rita, Lawrence T., Spring, Baker and Luddy, John. Thumbs Down to the Bottom-Up Review.

 <u>Backgrounder</u> No.957:1-9 Sep 24 '93.
- Donley, Michael B. Building a New Defense Consensus. <u>Joint Force Quarterly</u> No.6:18-27 Autumn-Winter '94-'95.
- Donovan, James A., Col, USMC(Ret). The United Nations-Its Roles and Missions for American Armed Forces. Marine Corps Gazette 79:68-74 Jul '95
- Dorr, Robert F. Winners and Losers from the Bottom Up. Aerospace America 31:8-9 Dec '93.
- Drew, Dennis M., Col, USAF(Ret). Recasting the Flawed Downsizing Debate. <u>Parameters</u> 23:39-48 Spring '93. Force Structure, pp45-48.
- Editorial: Roles and Missions-1990s Style. Marine Corps Gazette 77:2 Apr '93.
- Eisman, Dale. Navy, Air Force in Power Struggle Bombers Vs. Carriers. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, pp7-8, Mar 24 '94.

 Commander: Issue Isn't Just Carriers vs. Bombers, by ADM Paul Miller. Letter in answer to the Eisman article in the <u>Norfolk Virginian Pilot</u>, p7.
- A Focus on the Bottom-Up Review. <u>Strategic Review</u> 22:15-39 Spring '94.

 The Clinton Defense Program: Assessing the Bottom-Up Review, by Andrew F. Krepinevich, Jr.

Off the Map: Defense Planning after the Soviet Threat, by Colin S. Gray.
Mortgaging the Future to the Present in Defense Policy: A Commentary on the
Bottom-Up Review, by William T. Pendley, RADM, USN(Ret).

- Foss, John W., Gen, USA(Ret). Another Look at Roles and Missions. Army 44:9-10 Apr '94.
- Fulghum, David A. and Morrocco, John D. Bottom-Up Review Urges Modular Air Approach.

 <u>Aviation Week & Space Technology</u> 139:27 Sep 6 '93.

 Saving Industrial Base Key in Bottom-Up Review, pp24-26.
- Gaffney, Frank. Clinton Hollows Out Military Power. <u>Defense News</u> 9:37-38 Jul 18-24 '94.
- Gatchel, Theodore L., Col, USMC(Ret). Let the Competition Continue (The Secret to success in this effort will lie in convincing Congress that, whatever it decides concerning the final size of the U.S. military, the resulting force should include a healthy, competitive overlap of missions between the services). <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 119:30-34 Jul '93.
- Gertz, Bill. Pentagon Deputy (John Deutch) Says Troops Ready To Win Two Wars at Once: Haitian, Gulf Missions Show Cuts Haven't Hurt. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, p6, Oct 14 '94.
- Gertz, Bill. Son of Star Wars (The US will spend \$17 billion by 1998 to combat the theater missile threat). Air Force Magazine 77:52-54+ Sep '94.
 - "Rep. Ike Skelton... maintains that a key factor in the outcome of the missile defense debate will be the apparent struggle among military services for control of the effort. Who owns what aspect of it is the great debate... the Air Force, Army, and Navy are vying for control. It's really the Air Force vs. Army; those are the prime players."

- Gertz, Bill. U.S. Ability To Fight 2 Wars Questioned: Gulf, Korea a 'Nightmare Scenario.' <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, pp9+, Oct 11 '94.
- Gold, Philip. Military Moves To Save Identity in Budget Crisis. <u>Insight on the News</u> 10:6-12 Mar 21 '94.
 - "Summary: Not too long ago, the land and sea neatly divided the nation's armed services. Then came the airplane and interservice rivalry. Then came jointness. But with technologies converging and perpetual budget battles a fact of life, many wonder if the services can maintain their traditional identities."
- Gold, Phillip. The U.S. as an Aerospace Power. Current News Early Bird, p16, Oct 4 '94.
- Graham, Bradley and Harris, John F. Can the Pentagon Afford Its Future: Goals of Bottom-Up Review in Doubt. <u>Congressional Record</u> 140,no.111:S11299-S11300 Aug 11 '94. Defense Cutbacks Have Many Fearing a Loss of Readiness, by Rowan Scarborough, ppS11298-S11299.
- Hackworth, David. Let's Streamline the Armed Forces. Newsweek 121:30 Mar 22 '93.
- Hamilton, Lee H. The Defense Budget and Military Readiness. <u>Congressional Record</u> 141:E25-E26 Jan 4 '95.
- Harris, John F. Military Readiness Question Is Founded in Debate over Roles. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, pp5+, Nov 18 '94.
- Hessman, James D. Principles of Preparedness: CRS (Congressional Research Service Report on Military Preparedness) Finds "Mismatch" Between Requirements and Resources. <u>Sea Power</u> 37:25-26 Mar '94.
 - Table: U.S. Active Combat Forces: Desert Storm and Bottom-Up Review Requirements, p25.
- Hitchens, Theresa. DoD's Civilian Leadership Defends Bottom-Up Review: Military Officials Say Budgetary Constraints Undercut Capabilities. <u>Defense News</u> 9:26 Sep 12-18 '94.
- Hogan, Ned, RADM, USN(Ret). Commentary: What's Right for America. <u>U.S. Naval Institute</u>
 <u>Proceedings</u> 120:9 Jan '94.
- Hudson, Neff. Forward Presence-One by Air, Another by Sea: Senate Hears Services Jockey for Lead Position. Navy Times 43:11 Mar 28 '94.
- Huntington, Samuel P. New Contingencies, Old Roles. <u>Joint Force Quarterly</u> No.2:38-43 Autumn '93.
- Isaacs, John. Bottoms Up (The central shortfall of the review... is the disconnection between the latest military plan and the security threats that face the United States). <u>Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists</u> 49:12-13 Nov '93.
- Jeremiah, David E., ADM,USN. Jane's Interview with the Vice Chairman of the US Joint Chiefs of Staff by John Boatman. <u>Jane's Defence Weekly</u> 21:32 Mar 5 '94.

 "Adm Jeremiah sees a variety of opportunities for further consolidation in roles, missions and functions, particularly in aviation."
- Jeremiah, David. E., What's Ahead for the Armed Forces? <u>Joint Force Quarterly</u> No.1:25-35 Summer '93.

JFQ Forum: Service Identities and Joint Culture. <u>Joint Force Quarterly</u> No.6:36-75 Autumn-Winter '94-'95.

Introduction, by Paul G. Cerjan, LtGen, USA(Ret), pp36-37.

America's 2 Armies, by Richard D. Hooker, Jr., Maj, USA, pp38-46.

Once and Future Marines, by Thomas C. Linn, LtCol, USMC and C.P. Neimeyer, LtCol, USMC, pp47-51.

The Limits of Seapower: Joint Warfare and Unity of Conflict, by Colin S. Gray, pp52-

61.

Why We Need an Air Force, by Charles M. Westenhoff, LtCol, USAF, pp62-67. Roles, Missions, and JTFs: Unintended Consequences, by Steven L. Canby, pp68-75.

- Kaufmann, William W. "Hollow" Forces? Current Issues of U.S. Military Readiness. <u>Brookings</u> Review 12:24-29 Fall '94
- Keiger, Dale. Defensively Off Target: The Nation's Blueprint for Future Defense Is Predicated on a Kind of Warfare That May Never Occur Again, Say Four Defense Experts from Hopkins (Eliot A. Cohen, Andrew F. Krepinevich, Jr., Jeffrey S. McKitrick, and Michael Vickers). <u>Johns Hopkins Magazine</u> 46:12-17 Jun '94.
- Kitfield, James. European Paradox: U.S. Armed Forces in Europe Are Tackling Simultaneous Diversification and Divestiture, Undertaking More Missions with Fewer Personnel.

 <u>Government Executive</u> 26:14-16+ May '94.
- Kohn, Richard H. Out of Control: The Crisis in Civil-Military Relations. <u>National Interest</u> No.35:3-17 Spring '94.

"Almost forgotten in this great public imbroglio (gays in the military) that same January is the fact that General Powell also issued a watered-down roles and missions report to the Congress after a public call for study and change by Senator Sam Nunn. Under Goldwater-Nichols, the Chairman must periodically study the services (and report to Congress), and perhaps revise their relative roles and missions. These are enormously sensitive issues, for roles and missions mean money and forces. Apparently Powell was more willing to battle the new President over homosexuals and ignore the Chairman of the Senate Armed Services Committee on roles and missions, rather than confront the service chiefs, for he allowed them to delete the most meaningful proposals for change."

- Krepinevich, Andrew F., Jr., LtCol, USA(Ret). Assessing the Bottom-Up Review. <u>Joint Force Quarterly</u> No.3:22-24 Winter '93-'94.
 - Summary of the Report on the Bottom-Up Review, pp103-109.
- Kroesen, Frederick J. Roles and Missions of the Armed Services. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, p 12, Nov 7 '94.
- Lasswell, James A., Col, USMC. Roles and Missions Myths-A Division of Labor or a Division of Resources? <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 131:27-28 May '94.
- Lind, William S. Rationalizing Army and Marine Corps Roles and Missions Through Operational Art: If the Services Can Get Beyond the Usual Debates on Roles and Missions, They May Be Able To Develop a Militarily Rational Plan of Action that Emphasizes Their Real Strengths. Marine Corps Gazette 78:35-36 Jul '94.
- Luttwak, Edward N. Washington's Biggest Scandal (The Collapse of civilian control over the military policies and military strategy of the United States). <u>Commentary</u> 97:29-33 May '94.

- Matthews, William. 2 Wars Now Are Too Many: But (Defense Secretary) Perry Says U.S. Won't Face That Scenario for Years. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, pp1+, Jul 18 '94.
- Matthews, William. Bottom-Up Review vs. the Bottom Line: Pro or Con, Critics Say the Force Plan Is Underfunded. <u>Air Force Times</u> 54:32+ Jul 11 '94.
- Matthews, William. (Gen. Colin) Powell Urges No Major Shift in Service Roles. <u>Air Force Times</u>
 53:3 Jan 18 '93.

"After examining the military from its 'four air forces' to its multiple chaplains corps, Army Gen. Colin L. Powell has rejected calls from Congress for a major overhaul of roles and missions of the services."

- Matthews, William. Special Report-The Bottom's Out: Why the Military Cannot Fight Two Major Wars; Airfield Shortage Looms; Reality Check-No More Funds for Military. Army Times 54:12-14 Jun 20'94.
- McPeak, Merrill A., Gen, USAF. Roles and Missions of the United States Air Force: The Allocation of Responsibilities. <u>Vital Speeches</u> 60:682-684 Sep 1 '94.
- McPeak, Merrill A., Gen, USAF (Ret). The Roles and Missions Opportunity. <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 132:32-34 Mar '95.
- Meadows, Sandra I. Two-Contingency Strategy Unattainable, Says Expert (John M. Collins, military expert from the Library of Congress): Pentagon Sets Unrealistic Goals in Wake of Plummeting Force and Budgetary Resources. National Defense 78:10-11 Apr '94.
- Mehuron, Tamar A. Snapshots of the New Budget (Charts). <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 77:9-11 Apr '94.

 Chart: Force Structure Changes, p10.
- Miller, Paul D., ADM, USN. Both Swords and Plowshares: Military Roles in the 1990s. <u>RUSI Journal</u> 138:13-19 Apr '93.
- Miller, Paul David, ADM, USN. In the Absence of War: Employing America's Military Capabilities in the 1990s. <u>Fletcher Forum of World Affairs</u> 18:5-21 Winter- Spring '94.
- Morrison, David C. Bottoming Out? A Year after Its Debut, the Defense Department's Much Maligned Bottom-Up Review Keeps Attracting Brickbats. <u>National Journal</u> 26:2126-2130 Sep 17 '94.
- Mundy, Carl E., Jr., Gen, USMC. Service Roles, Functions: Reinforcing Overlap. <u>Defense Issues</u> 9,no.39:1-3 Apr 28 '94.
- Munro, Neil. U.S. Army Resists Move by Air Force on Air Defense. <u>Defense News</u> 7:4+ Sep 14-20 '92.
- Muradian, Vago and Opall, Barbara. USAF Revives Theater Defense Debate. <u>Defense News</u> 8:4+ Nov 1-7 '93.
- Murdock, Clark A. Mission-Pull and Long-Range Planning. <u>Joint Force Quarterly</u> No.6:28-35 Autumn-Winter '94-'95.
 Roles and Missions, pp33-35.

- Opall, Barbara. U.S. Air Force Plan Exhorts Shared Role for CAS in Services. <u>Defense News</u> 7:3+ Jul 27/Aug 2 '92.
- Perry, William J. New Defense Budget Reflects the Realities of an Inherited Force Structure. ROA National Security Report, pp32-33, Apr '94.
- Philpott, Tom. "The New Bill Crowe" (Les Aspin) Voices Doubts: New Defense Chief (William Perry) Sets New Priorities. <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:90 Oct '94.
- Pike, John E. Reducing Military Spending: No time Like the Present. <u>F.A.S. Public Interest</u>
 <u>Report</u> 47:3-6 Nov-Dec '94.

 Threat Environment Affords Reassessment; A Revolution in Military Affairs?; Roles and Missions Need Updating; Duplication Has Outlived Usefulness.
- Pine, Art. Military Chiefs Open Drive To Force Armed Services To Cooperate More (increased pooling of weapons and other resources is the goal. Fierce turf battles among Army, Navy and Air Force are expected to result). Current News Early Bird, pp2+, May 17 '94.

 Adm. William A. Owens has gotten the project under way using a little-known committee known as the Joint Requirements and Oversight Council-a high-level panel comprising the vice chiefs of staff of each of the individual services.
- Pine, Art. Pentagon's 'Bottom-Up Review' Appears To Be Down and Out. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, pp7+, Aug 24 '94.

 "A year after defense chief Aspin praised his post-Cold War redesign, it has become a liability. Now some critics are asking for a review of the review."
- Powell, Colin, Gen, USA(Ret). Roles and Missions Review: Steps Toward Jointness. <u>DISAM</u>
 <u>Journal</u> 16:26-38 Fall '93.

 Extract from the Executive Summary of the Report, Roles, Missions and Functions of the Armed Forces of the United States.
- Powell, Colin L., Gen, USA. U.S. Forces: Challenges Ahead. <u>Foreign Affairs</u> 71,no.5:32-45 Winter '92-'93.
- Prina, L. Edgar. Year of Decision: Congress, Pentagon Gear Up for "Most Crucial Budget Battle." Sea Power 37:21-25 Feb '94.
- Record, Jeffrey. A Military Ready for What? Defense Week 16:1+ Mar 20'95.
- Roles & Missions Review-Steps Toward Jointness. <u>Defense '93</u> No.2:16-31 '93. From the executive summary of the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff Report on the Roles, Missions, and Functions of the Armed Forces of the United States, February 1993.
- Rosen, Stephen P. Service Redundancy: Waste or Hidden Capability? <u>Joint Force Quarterly</u> No.1:36-39 Summer '93.
- Rosenau, William. Non-Traditional Missions and the Future of the U.S. Military. <u>Fletcher Forum of World Affairs</u> 18:31-48 Winter/Spring '94.
- Rosenberg, Eric. What the House GOP Will Mean for the Pentagon–More Attacks on Bottom-Up Review Are Due...Taking the Reins... <u>Defense Week</u> 15:1+ Nov 21 '94.
- Sanders, Van C. Bottom Up Review Trend Is Down. <u>Air Forces Monthly</u> No.71:18-21 Feb '94. The author looks at the winners and losers in the latest US defense review.

- Schmitt, Eric. Some Doubt U.S. Could Fight Two Wars. New York Times, pA5, col 4-6, Oct 17 '94.
- Silverberg, David. Only the Opening Gun: The Roles and Missions Report Is Just the End of the Beginning. <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 132:6+ May '95.
- Skelton, Ike. A Deep Concern for the Future. Interview by James D. Hessman and Vincent C. Thomas. <u>Sea Power</u> 37:11-16 Jul '94.
- Smith, Daniel M., Col, USA(Ret). Palace Coup at the Pentagon: Nothing Less Than a Revolution Is Needed for Real Change. <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 132:24 Nov '94.
- Swanberg, Arnold. How Much Is Enough? Flightline No.4:4-8 Spring-Summer '94.

 "In its general terms the new plan is quite typical of post-war American defense planning. It assigns to the Navy and the Marines the first line of defense (and offense), it massively reduces the Army but it guts the Air Force tactically while apparently offering some solace by the continued production of the F-22 and C-17."
- Szafranski, Richard, Col, USAF. Annulling Marriages: Reframing the Roles, Missions, and Functions Debate. <u>Airpower Journal</u> 7:55-67 Winter '93.
- Tapscott, Mark. R.I.P. Bottom-Up Review (As a result of a devastating analysis by the General Accounting Office). Defense Electronics 27:6-8 Mar '95.

 "Officially, Perry and other senior Pentagon officials rejected the GAO analysis, saying the congressional agency did not recognize the differences between broad conceptual force planning and detailed operational planning."
- Todd, David F. and Hitchen, Ralph M. Cutting Defense: Method Instead of Madness. <u>Joint Force Quarterly</u> No.5:91-94 Summer '94.
- Towell, Pat. Defense Authorization: House Coalition Repels Efforts To Cut Military Further. <u>Congressional Quarterly Weeky Report</u> 52:1320-1325 May 21 '94.
- Towell, Pat. Gulf Mission Arms Both Sides in Debate over Downsizing. Congressional

 Quarterly Weekly Report 52:2965-2968 Oct 15 '94.

 "Response to Iraqi threat shows U.S. forces can move fast but also renews fears that budget cuts are too deep."
- Watkins, Steven. Space Chiefs Assail McPeak Plan (that the Air Force serve as the military's sole agent in space-related affairs). <u>Air Force Times</u> 54:3 Apr 18 '94.
- Watkins, Steven and Matthews, William. New Roles, New Missions-Operations: Prepare For Big Changes; Personnel: Reforms Are Likely. Air Force Times 55:12-13 Oct 10 '94.
- Welch, William G. Is Fixed-Wing CAS Worth It? <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:51-55 Sep '94.
- Wettering, Frederick L. and Petrie, John N., CAPT, USN. Dealing with Anarchy (Now is the time to prepare those forces which will be needed for future missions and to streamline the requisite support to carry them to success). Joint Force Quarterly No.4:17-23 Spring '94.
- William, Robert H. Aspin's Bottom-Up Review Attracts Another Obituary: Predicted Shortfall in Next Century May Hit Tens of Billions of Dollars. <u>National Defense</u> 79:10-12 Feb '95. Service Assessments: Army, p11; Navy Forecast, pp11-12; Air Force Estimate, p12.

Background Information

Books

American Civil-Military Decisions: A Book of Case Studies. Edited by Harold Stein. University, AL, Published in Cooperation with The Inter-University Case Program by University of Alabama Press, 1963. 705p.

Book call no.: 327.73 5819a

Super Carriers and B-36 Bombers: Appropriations, Strategy and Politics, by Paul Y. Hammond, pp465-567.

Barlow, Jeffrey G. Revolt of the Admirals. Washington, GPO, 1994. 420 p. Book call no.: 359.940973 B258r

Center for Naval Analyses. Who Will Do What with What: Defining U.S. Navy and Marine Corps Roles, Functions, and Missions, by Adam B. Siegel. Alexandria, VA, May 1993. 28p. (CNA Occasional Paper).

Book call no.: 359 S571w

Contents:

The Debates to World War I.

The Interwar Years.

After World War II: Unification or Triplification? The Fifties to the Eighties and Goldwater-Nichols.

Continuity Between Debates.

Why Today's Debate?

Sources on Roles, Missions, and Functions, pp25-28.

Cheng, Christopher C. S. <u>Air Mobility: The Development of a Doctrine</u>. Foreword by LtGen Ellis D. Parker, USA(Ret). London, Praeger, 1994. 225p.

Book call no.: 355.166 C518a

See Index for subjects: Air Force opposition; Air support.

Enthoven, Alain C. and Smith, K. Wayne. <u>How Much Is Enough? Shaping the Defense Program, 1961-1969</u>. New York, Harper & Row, 1971. 364p.

Book call no.: 353.6 E61h

Meilinger, Phillip S., Col, USAF. <u>Hoyt S. Vandenberg-The Life of a General</u>. Bloomington, IN, Indiana University Press, 1989. 279p.

Book call no.: 92 V227m

Chapter V. War Plans and War Planes, pp121-138.

Roles and Missions, pp125-128.

Mutiny Between Decks, pp128-138.

Chapter VII. The War for Asia, pp160-189.

The Close Air Support Controversy, pp166-172.

Straubel, James H. <u>Crusade for Airpower: The Story of the Air Force Association</u>. Washington, Aerospace Education Foundation, 1982. 419p.

Book call no.: 358.4006 S912c

Chapter V. The B-36 Revolt, pp60-71.

U.S. Air Force. Office of Air Force History. <u>The United States Air Force Basic Documents on Roles and Missions</u>, by Richard I. Wolf. Washington, 1987. 455p. (Air Staff Historical Study).

Book call no.: 358.400973 U581

U.S. Congress. House. Committee on Armed Services. Regional Threats and Defense Options for the 1990s. Hearings... 102nd Cong, 2nd sess, Mar 10-May 5, 1992. Washington, GPO, 1992. 473p. (H.A.S.C. No. 102-73). Book call no.: R 355.033273 U58r

U.S. Congress. Senate. Committee on Armed Services. <u>Close Air Support</u>. Hearings Before the Special Subcommittee on Close Air Support. 92nd Cong, 1st sess. Washington, GPO, 1971. 484p.

Book call no.: 358.4 C749c

Historical Decisions on Roles and Missions, pp10-16.

U.S. Congress. Senate. Committee on Armed Services. <u>Close Air Support</u>. Report... 92nd Cong, 1st sess. Washington, GPO, 1972. 36p.

Book call no.: 358.4 C749ca

Roles and Missions: Historical Review of Roles and Missions Issues; Evolution of the Armed Helicopter; Marines and Navy Roles and Missions; Summary of Roles and Missions Controversy, pp15-18.

- U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff. 1992 Joint Military Net Assessment. Washington, Aug 1992. 1 vol. Book call no.: R 355 J74sa 1992

 Chapter 3. The Base Force, pp3-1/3-10
- U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff. 1993 Joint Military Net Assessment. Washington, 1993. 5p.
 Book call no.: R 355 J74sa 1993
 "This abbreviated 1993 JMNA serves as a bridge from the 1992 to the 1994 JMNA."
- U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff. <u>National Military Strategy of the United States</u>. Washington, Jan 1992. 27p.
 Book call no.: 355.033073 N2775
- U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff. Joint History Office. <u>The Development of the Base Force 1989-1992</u>, by Lorna S. Jaffe. Washington, Jul 1993. 60p. Book call no.: R 355.033573 J23d

Bibliographies

Air University Library. <u>Close Air Support: Selected References</u>. Compiled by Melrose M. Bryant. Maxwell AFB, AL, Sep 1965. 43p. (Informal Bibliography) Bibliography File
Roles and Missions, pp35-40.

Air University Library. Close Air Support: Selected References. Compiled by Melrose M. Bryant. Maxwell AFB, AL, Dec 1973. 47p. (Special Bibliography, No.198)
Bibliography File
Roles and Missions, pp11-17.

Documents

Doty, William K., Jr., LtCol,USAF. The American Military's Tradition of Performing Non-Traditional Missions. Maxwell AFB, AL, Air War College, Air University, Apr 1995. 28p. (Research Report).

Doc. call no.: M-U 43117 D725a

- Hallion, Richard P. <u>Battlefield Air Support: A Time for Retrospective Assessment</u>. Andrews AFB, MD, Air Force Systems Command, Directorate of Advanced Programs, Feb 1989. 57p.
- Kirkpatrick, Charles E., Maj, USA. <u>The Army and the A-10: The Army's Role in Developing Close Air Support Aircraft, 1961-1971</u>. Washington, U.S. Army Center of Military History, Analysis Branch, n.d. 46p.

Doc. call no.: M-U 43594-11

Background: Allocation of Missions, pp6-9.

Early Discussions, pp10-17.

Summaries of Relevant Documents and Agreements, pp38-41.

Selected Bibliography, pp42-46.

- U.S. Army War College. Strategic Studies Institute. <u>Strategy, Forces and Budgets: Dominant Influences in Executive Decision Making, Post-Cold War, 1989-91</u>, by Don M. Snider. Carlisle Barracks, PA, Feb 1993. 61p. (Professional Readings in Military Strategy, No.8). Doc. call no.: M-U 39080-503
- U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff. Historical Division. <u>Chronology of Changes in Key West Agreements</u>, <u>April 1948–January 1958</u>. Washington, Feb 1958. 33 p. Doc. call no.: M-U 40592-92
- White, Emett R., LtCol,USA. <u>Close Air Support-A Case for Divestiture Planning in the Department of Defense (DOD)</u>. Carlisle Barracks, PA, Mar 1989. 43p. (US Army War College. Military Studies Program Paper).
 Doc. call no.: M-U 39080-83 W583c

Close Air Support- A 40 Year Debate, pp5-17.

- Allard, Dean C. Interservice Differences in the United States, 1945-1950: A Naval Perspective. <u>Airpower Journal</u> 3:71-85 Winter '89.
- Beebe, Robert P., CAPT, USN(Ret). The Vital Key West Agreement. <u>U.S. Naval Institute</u> <u>Proceedings</u> 87:34-41 Sep '61.
- Builder, Carl H. Roles & Missions: Back to the Future. <u>Joint Force Quarterly</u> No.4:32-37 Spring '94.
- Cardwell, Thomas A., III, Col, USAF. How Interservice Issues Arise. <u>Air University Review</u> 37:76-81 May-Jun '86.
- Duchin, Brian R. "The Most Spectacular Legislative Battle of That Year": President Eisenhower and the 1958 Reorganization of the Department of Defense. <u>Presidential Studies Quarterly</u> 24:243-262 Spring '94.

- Freund, James C. The "Revolt of the Admirals." A Study of the 1949 Congressional Hearings on Unification and Strategy. <u>Airpower Historian</u> pt 1, 10:1-10 Jan '63; pt 2, 10:37-42 Apr '63.
- Halperin, Mortin H. and Halperin, David. The Key West Key. Foreign Policy No.53:114-130 Winter '83-'84.
- JCS Roles and Missions Review To Spur Far-Reaching Changes. <u>Aviation Week & Space Technology</u> 137:23-24 Oct 19 '92.
- Jones, Howard G., Capt, USAF. A New Rival: The Rise of the American Air Force. <u>Air Power History</u> 38:18-29 Winter '91.
 - "The rise of the third service, the Air Force, intensified interservice rivalry and complicated the division of resources and missions among the services. ...At every step in the air force's growth, the other services fought bitterly to slow it down."
- Kohn, Richard H. Out of Control: The Crisis in Civil-Military Relations. <u>National Interest</u> No.35:3-17 Spring '94.
- Marion, Forrest L. The Grand Experiment: Detachment F's Helicopter Combat Operations in Korea, 1950-1953. <u>Air Power History</u> 40:38-51 Summer '93.
 - "This account of Detachment F's Korean War helicopter operations should be viewed within the broader context of the Army-Air Force relationship concerning rotary-wing aircraft, a relationship both ambiguous and strained for several years."
- McFarland, Keith D. The 1949 Revolt of the Admirals. Parameters 11:53-63 Jun '81.
- Nelan, Bruce W. A Force for the Future: The U.S. Won the Cold War and Faces No Serious Foreign Adversary. So Why Are Bush and Clinton Seeking Only Marginal Cuts in a Pentagon Budget That Will Still Top \$1 Trillion over Five Years? Instead, Why Not Start from the Bottom and Tailor America's Military to Its True Mission-and Bring Home a Real Peace Dividend? Time 140:26-29 Sep 7 '92.
- Nunn, Sam. The Defense Department Must Thoroughly Overhaul the Services' Roles and Missions. Congressional Record 138:S9559-S9564 Jul 2'92.
- Nunn, Sam. 'Revamp It, Don't Just Shrink It' (Excerpts from a recent floor speech by U.S. Sen. Sam Nunn (D-Ga) on what he sees as the imperative need to revamp the roles and missions of the military services). Aviation Week & Space Technology 137:9 Jul 20 '92.

 Battle Lines Forming in Congress over Pentagon Tactical Aviation Plans, by John D. Morrocco, pp55-57.
- Trest, Warren A. The Legacy of Halfway Unification. <u>Air University Review</u> 37:63-73 Sep-Oct '86.

Commission on Roles and Missions

Book

<u>United States Code Congressional and Administrative News</u>. 103rd Cong, 1st sess. St. Paul, MN, West Pub Co, 1994. 1 vol.

Book call no.: R 345.2 U58uc 1994 No.11

National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 1994: Public Law 103-160, November 30, 1993.

Title IX. Department of Defense Organization and Management: Subtitle E. Commission on Roles and Missions of the Armed Forces, pp107 STAT.1738-107 STAT.1742.

- Black, Chris. Kennedy School Official (John P. White) a 'Change' Consultant for Pentagon. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, pp8+, Oct 31 '94.
- BOV (Air University Board of Visitors) Chairman To Head Committee: SecDef Names Dr. John P. White To Head Commission on Role, Missions of Armed Forces. <u>Maxwell-Gunter Dispatch</u> 48:9 Apr 15 '94.
- Cancian, Mark F., LtCol, USMCR. Who Will Do What? <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 121:84-86 May '95.
- Cheney, Stephen A., Col, USMC. What's at Stake? A Look at the First 26 Issues Identified by the Commission on Roles and Missions of the Armed Forces for Further Study. <u>Marine Corps Gazette</u> 78:19-21 Dec '94.
- Correll, John T. Another Shot at Roles and Missions: As Part of the 1994 Defense Authorization Bill Passed in November, Congress Instructed the Secretary of Defense To Appoint a Commission of Seven Private Citizens To Review the Roles and Missions of the Armed Forces. Editorial. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 77:2 Jan '94. Editorial: The Commission on Roles and Missions, by Col John E. Greenwood, USMC(Ret), p2.
- Cushman, John H., LtGen, USA(Ret). Roles and Missions-Again. <u>U.S. Naval Institute</u>

 <u>Proceedings</u> 120:9 Jul '94.

 See Cushman, "Roles and Missions-Again", <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u>, pp22-23, Aug '94.
- Foss, John W., Gen, USA (Ret). Another Look at Roles and Missions. Army 44:9-10 Apr '94.
- Glashow, Jason and Holzer, Robert. Panel May Urge Greater Emphasis on Depot Privatization.

 <u>Defense News</u> 10:18 Jan 23-29 '95.
- Glashow, Jason and Holzer, Robert. Roles Panel Eyes Policy on Budgets, Purchasing: Panel To Reshape DOD Relationships. <u>Defense News</u> 9:1+ Nov 21-27 '94.
- Glashow, Jason and Holzer, Robert. Services Vie for Edge in Roles & Missions Study. Navy Times 43:37 Sep 19 '94.
- Glashow, Jason and Holzer, Robert. U.S. Mission Review Panel Hopes Research Centers Will Aid Process. <u>Defense News</u> 9:16 Oct 10-16 '94.

- Glashow, Jason and Holtzer, Robert. U.S. Services Highlight Issues to Roles, Missions Panel To Focus on Operations, Infrastructure, Decision-Making. <u>Defense News</u> 9:12 Sep 5-11 '94.
- Glashow, Jason and Holzer, Robert. USAF Aggressively Guns for Roles. <u>Defense News</u> 9:1 Sep 12-18 '94.
- Holzer, Robert. Initiatives May Alter U.S. Military Roles, Structure. <u>Defense News</u> 9:14 Dec 12-18 '94.
- Holzer, Robert. U.S. Military Braces for Massive Mission Review. <u>Defense News</u> 9:3+ Aug 29/Sep 4 '94.
- John White, Chairman, Commission on Roles and Missions of the U.S. Armed Forces: Interview. <u>Defense News</u> 10:46 Apr 17-23 '95.
- Lardner, Richard. The Glow Is Gone from the Army-Three Years after Desert Storm, the Army Is Losing Divisions and Is Short of Money. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 77:62-66 Apr '94.

 The Congress mandated establishment of a Commission on Roles and Missions of the Armed Forces, pp65-66.
- LeSueur, Stephen C. Congress Forces Roles Issue: Threatens Legislation if Pentagon Fails To Review Missions. <u>Defense News</u> 8:3+ Nov 29/Dec 5 '93.

 Table: A New Perspective on Old Roles, p3.
- Matthews, William. Commission Backs Off Base Mergers: Joint Base Operations Remains Viable Issue, Though. Military Market 45:20 Nov '94.
- Matthews, William. Roles Panel Will Focus on the Tough Issues. Army Times 55:18 Sep 26 '94.
- Meadows, Sandra I. Galloping Mission Costs Prod Services Soul Search: Military Leaders Jockey for Position in the 21st Century Battlefield-Evolutionary Shifts Foreseen. <u>National Defense</u> 79:14-15 Dec '94.

Roles and Missions Commission Must Reassess Military Support Structure, by LtGen Lawrence F. Skibbie, USA(Ret), p3.

- Panel Narrows Roles & Missions List to 25 Key Issues. <u>Defense Daily</u> 185:9-10 Oct 3 '94.
- R & M Commission Picking Up Steam. Marine Corps Gazette 78:10 Nov '94.
- Roles & Missions Group Begins Work. Marine Corps Gazette 78:7 Jul '94.
- Roles and Missions Commission Appointed. <u>Army</u> 44:13 May '94. Commission members are listed.
- Roles-and-Missions Debate Heats Up in US: Two Separate Groups Have Launched Competing Studies To Find Ways of Eliminating Unnecessary Duplication in and Improving the Effectiveness of United States Military Forces. <u>International Defense Review</u> 27:5-6 May '94.
- Roles and Missions Panel Debates How Broadly To Study Aviation. <u>Aerospace Daily</u> 171:477-479 Sep 26 '94.
- Roles and Missions Panel Tackles Range of US Issues. <u>International Defense Review</u> 27:5-6 Nov '94.

- Roos, John G. Roles & Missions Countdown. <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 132:34-35 May '95.
- Ropelewski, Robert. Roles and Missions Debate Transcends Service Rivalries: A Congressionally Mandated Study Seeks Conclusions and Recommendations as It Nears a Late May Deadline. <u>Signal</u> 49:53-56 Apr '95.
- Scarborough, Rowan. Armed Forces Battle Each Other for Roles: Documents Reveal 'Years of Infighting.' <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, pp3+, Sep 15 '94.
- Stavem, Christine. Commission Won't Focus on Limiting Service Combat Roles. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:3 Nov 28 '94.
- Steele, Dennis. Dr. White Briefs AUSA on Roles and Missions. Army 44:4-5 Dec '94.
- White Commission To Broaden Review of Reserve Component. <u>Defense Daily</u> 186:56-57 Jan 13 '95.
- White, John P., Chairman, Commission on Roles and Missons of the Armed Forces: Improving the Effectiveness of Military Operations. <u>Defense Issues</u> 10:1-6 Feb 15 '95.
- White, John P. Roles and Missions: How To Get to the Future. Defense 95 No.2:11-17 '95.

Debate on the Issues: June 1994 - September 1994

Document

U.S. Air Force. Chief of Staff. <u>Presentation to the Commission on Roles and Missions of the Armed Forces</u>, by General Merrill A. McPeak. Washington, Sep 14, 1994. 206p. Doc. call no.: M-U 41365-29

- Air Force Isolated on Space Management. <u>Defense Daily</u> 184:349-351 Sep 2 '94.
- Army Seeks Moral High Ground in Briefing to Roles Panel: Air Force Would Alter Army Roles.

 <u>Defense Daily</u> 184:417-418 Sep 15 '94.
- Blazar, Ernest. Revising <u>From the Sea</u>: New Strategy Sees Presence as Best Future Role for Navy. <u>Navy Times</u> 43:40 Sep 26 '94.
- Correll, John T. Let's You and Him Fight: "Presence" Is a Shared Mission. There Is More Than One Way To Achieve It: Editorial. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 77:4 Jun '94.
- Matthews, William. New Missions: Substantial Role Changes To Be Studied. <u>Air Force Times</u> 55:3 Sep 26 '94.

 McPeak: Remove Marines' F/A-18s, by Steven Watkins, p8.

- McPeak, Merrill A., Gen, USAF. Vying for Military Space Control. <u>Space News</u> 5:15 Sep 26/Oct 2 '94.
 - Air Force Examines Exotic Technologies: Spacecast 2020 Report Describes Technologies To Pursue, by Andrew Lawler, pp1+.
 - Air Force Defends Plan To Control Pentagon Space Effort, by Steve Weber, p8.
- Morrocco, John D. Horner: U.S. Pursuing Counter Stealth-Said Space Represents a Totally Separate Function from Land, Air and Sea. "It's a Different Doctrine, a Different Way of Doing Business." <u>Aviation Week & Space Technology</u> 141:56-57 Aug 1 '94.
- Morrocco, John D. McPeak Sees Alternatives to Modernization Cuts (coming from force reductions and efficiencies obtained through consolidations in service roles and missions rather than canceling modernization programs). <u>Aviation Week & Space Technology</u> 141:21-22 Sep 26 '94.
- Naylor, Sean D. Army Defends Turf in Missions Hassle. <u>Army Times</u> 55:18 Sep 26 '94.
- Starr, Barbara. US Chief (US Navy Admiral Paul David Miller) Urges Single Western Command. Jane's Defence Weekly 22:15 Sep 24 '94.
- Watkins, Steven. McPeak: Remove Marines' F/A-18s (McPeak on Sept. 14 made about a dozen key proposals-certain to be controversial-to assign responsibility to the Air Force for most military aircraft, missiles, air and missile defense systems and space systems). <u>Air Force Times</u> 55:8 Sep 26 '94.

Debate on the Issues: October 1994 - December 1994

- AF Proposes Battle Arena Changes. Military Space 11:7 Nov 14'94.
- Air Force Chief (Gen. Merrill McPeak) Outlines Potential Roles and Missions Savings. <u>Defense</u> <u>Daily</u> 185:83-84 Oct 18 '94.
- Air Force on Attack on Roles and Missions, Explains Why. Defense Week 15:8-9+ Oct 31 '94.
- Air Force Willing To Give Army Its A-10s for CAS Mission. <u>Aerospace Daily</u> 172:105-106 Oct 21 '94.
- Boatman, John and Starr, Barbara. The Battle for Superiority in US Roles and Missions: The Independent US Commission on Roles and Missions of the Armed Forces Has Begun Its Deliberations amid Fierce Debate on How They Are Defined. <u>Jane's Defence Weekly</u> 22:27+ Oct 1'94.
- Boorda, J. M., ADM, USN. The Art of the Long View: Enduring Naval Principles. <u>Vital Speeches</u> 61:132-135 Dec 15 '94.
- Capaccio, Tony. Air Force Backs Off Bid To Dissolve Commando Command: New Chief Seeks To Soften Tone. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:1+ Nov 28 '94.

- Capaccio, Tony. Air Force Blames Army Procedures for Republican Guard Escape: The Republican Guard Enters Roles and Mission Debate. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:1+ Oct 24 '94.
- Capaccio, Tony. Air Force Chief (Gen Ronald Fogleman) Retains Basic Service Roles, Mission Stance. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:6 Dec 19 '94.
- Capaccio, Tony. Air Force Close Air Plan Draws Heat from Army. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:1+ Nov 7 '94.
- Capaccio, Tony. Commando Chief (Gen Wayne Downing) Defends Turf Against Air Force Attack. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:2 Nov 14 '94.
- Costello, John, BrigGen, USA. The Army Stakes Out Its Roles and Missions Turf: Interview. <u>Defense Week 15:8-9+ Dec 5 '94.</u>
- Crawley, Vince. Army Disputes McPeak War Strategy. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, p5, Nov 8 '94. New AF Chief Reportedly Backs Inherited Plan, by Chuck Vince, p5.
- Foote, Sheila. Air Force Alters Position on Close Air Support, Theater Air Defense. <u>Defense</u> <u>Daily</u> 185:371-372 Dec 15 '94.
- Foote, Sheila. Army and Marines under Review for Duplication, One More Time. <u>Defense</u> <u>Daily</u> 185:158-159 Nov 1 '94.
- Fulghum, David A. USAF Clashes with Navy, Army over Roles. <u>Aviation Week & Space Technology</u> 141:25-27 Oct 31 '94.
- Garner, Jay, LtGen, USA. Interview: Marking Army Territory Against Air Force Encroachments (for primacy in missile defense and space). <u>Defense Week</u> 15:8-9+ Nov 7'94.
- Hoffman, Jon T., Maj, USMCR. The Roles and Missions Debate. Marine Corps Gazette 78:16-19 Dec '94.
- JCS Chief (Army Gen. John Shalikashvili) Wants Panel To Drop (Overseas) Command Study. <u>Defense News</u> 9:3+ Dec 12-18 '94.
- Link, Charles D., MajGen, USAF. Interview with the Special Assistant to the Air Force Chief of Staff for Roles and Missions. Space News 5:22 Oct 3-9 '94.

 Air Force Yields on Control of Joint Space Command, by Steve Weber, p3.
- Lovece, Joseph. Air Force Comes Out Swinging in Theater Missile Defense Fight; Army Balks at Air Force Plan. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:1+ Nov 28 '94.
- Lynch, Thomas, RADM, USN. The Navy Gears Up for Roles and Missions Debate: Interview by Eric Rosenberg. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:8-9+ Nov 14 '94.
- McPeak, Merrill, Gen, USAF(Ret). Now Retired, Gen. McPeak Explains His Take on Roles and Missions: Interview with Tony Capaccio. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:8-9+ Nov 28 '94.
- Military Space Roles and Missions Debate Dogs Air Force Officials. <u>Aerospace Daily</u> 172:137-138 Oct 27'94.

- Capaccio, Tony. Air Force Blames Army Procedures for Republican Guard Escape: The Republican Guard Enters Roles and Mission Debate. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:1+ Oct 24 '94.
- Capaccio, Tony. Air Force Chief (Gen Ronald Fogleman) Retains Basic Service Roles, Mission Stance. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:6 Dec 19 '94.
- Capaccio, Tony. Air Force Close Air Plan Draws Heat from Army. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:1+ Nov 7 '94.
- Capaccio, Tony. Commando Chief (Gen Wayne Downing) Defends Turf Against Air Force Attack. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:2 Nov 14 '94.
- Costello, John, BrigGen, USA. The Army Stakes Out Its Roles and Missions Turf: Interview. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:8-9+ Dec 5 '94.
- Crawley, Vince. Army Disputes McPeak War Strategy. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, p5, Nov 8 '94. New AF Chief Reportedly Backs Inherited Plan, by Chuck Vince, p5.
- Foote, Sheila. Air Force Alters Position on Close Air Support, Theater Air Defense. <u>Defense</u> <u>Daily</u> 185:371-372 Dec 15 '94.
- Foote, Sheila. Army and Marines under Review for Duplication, One More Time. <u>Defense</u> <u>Daily</u> 185:158-159 Nov 1 '94.
- Fulghum, David A. USAF Clashes with Navy, Army over Roles. <u>Aviation Week & Space Technology</u> 141:25-27 Oct 31 '94.
- Garner, Jay, LtGen, USA. Interview: Marking Army Territory Against Air Force Encroachments (for primacy in missile defense and space). <u>Defense Week</u> 15:8-9+ Nov 7 '94.
- Hoffman, Jon T., Maj, USMCR. The Roles and Missions Debate. Marine Corps Gazette 78:16-19 Dec '94.
- JCS Chief (Army Gen. John Shalikashvili) Wants Panel To Drop (Overseas) Command Study. <u>Defense News</u> 9:3+ Dec 12-18 '94.
- Link, Charles D., MajGen, USAF. Interview with the Special Assistant to the Air Force Chief of Staff for Roles and Missions. Space News 5:22 Oct 3-9 '94.

 Air Force Yields on Control of Joint Space Command, by Steve Weber, p3.
- Lovece, Joseph. Air Force Comes Out Swinging in Theater Missile Defense Fight; Army Balks at Air Force Plan. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:1+ Nov 28 '94.
- Lynch, Thomas, RADM, USN. The Navy Gears Up for Roles and Missions Debate: Interview by Eric Rosenberg. Defense Week 15:8-9+ Nov 14 '94.
- McPeak, Merrill, Gen, USAF(Ret). Now Retired, Gen. McPeak Explains His Take on Roles and Missions: Interview with Tony Capaccio. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:8-9+ Nov 28 '94.
- Military Space Roles and Missions Debate Dogs Air Force Officials. <u>Aerospace Daily</u> 172:137-138 Oct 27'94.

- Morrison, David C. Firefight-Haiti Is the Backdrop for a Reignited Pentagon War over Roles and Missions. <u>National Journal</u> 26:2274-2277 Oct 1 '94.

 With the Pentagon having to make do with less, the Army and the Marine Corps are battling over which service should be the United States's preeminent expeditionary force.
- Muradian, Vago. More B-2s Are Possible: Roles and Missions Study May Advance Plane's Cause. Air Force Times 55:42 Oct 17 '94.
- Navy Resolutely Opposed To Giving Up Any Roles and Missions. <u>Aerospace Daily</u> 172:89-90 Oct 19'94.
- Navy Wants Broader Role in Ballistic Missile Defense ... Navy Chief Adm. Mike Boorda Says. <u>Defense Daily</u> 185:89 Oct 19 '94.
- Navy's Top Admiral (Adm. Jeremy M. Boorda) Strives To Preserve Size of Fleet. New York Times, pA10, col 1-4, Nov 15 '94.
- Robinson, John. New (JCS) Study Backs 12-Carrier Bottom-Up Review Force. <u>Defense Daily</u> 185:313-314 Dec 5 '94.
- Roles Chief Seeks To Avoid Divisive Fight Between Services. <u>Defense Daily</u> 185:23-24 Oct 5 '94.
- Rosenberg, Eric. The Navy Goes on a Roles and Missions Offensive. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:15 Oct 24 '94.
- Rosenfeld, Stephen S. Scramble over Roles and Missions. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, pp7-8, Oct 14 '94.
- Scarborough, Rowan. Air Force Withdraws Report after Top Admiral Complains. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, p5, Nov 29 '94.
- Scarborough, Rowan. Air War of Words Moves Toward Truce: Navy Chief (Adm. Jeremy Boorda) Blasts Air Force Position. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, pp9+, Dec 19'94.
- Tillman, Doyle. Aide to Perry Says Technology Calls for Redistribution of Roles: According to MajGen Charles D. Link, the Air Force Wants the Military Services' Roles and Missions More Sharply Defined. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, p10, Oct 26 '94.
- Weber, Steve. U.S. Army Vigorously Defends Its Space Budget: Recommendations Expected from Roles and Missions Commission by May 1995. <u>Space News</u> 5:6 Nov 21/Dec 4 '94.
- West, Togo D., Jr. The Jane's Interview: US Army Secretary Sees Merit in Holding the Line Against Major Roles and Missions Change, by John Boatman. <u>Jane's Defence Weekly</u> 22:48 Oct 1 '94.
- What's Your Function? An Alternative Space Management Plan Proposed by the Navy...All for Naught? (Roles and Missions Commission). <u>Defense Daily</u> 185:311 Dec 5 '94.
- Widnall, Sheila E. The Air Force's Future Space Vision. <u>Space News</u> 5:15 Nov 14-20 '94.
 - Air Force Pursues Space Plan Plan, by Theresa Hitchens, pp4+. Lockheed, Air Force Continue Negotiating as Milstar 5, 6 Begin, by Steve Weber, p8.

Debate on the Issues: January 1995 - May 1995

- Air Force To Oversee New 'DoD Space Architect' Position. <u>Aerospace Daily</u> 173:445 Mar 24 '95.
- Capaccio, Tony. CRS Study (Congressional Research Service report by John Collins) Hits Army 'Roles, Missions' Claims. <u>Defense Week</u> 16:7 May 8 '95.
- Correll, John T. Roles and Missions Ride Again (...How do the individual services provide core fighting capabilities to a Joint Force commander?). <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 78:10-12 Feb '95. Editorial focuses on: Fogleman Changes the Tempo; The Four Battles; Differences with the Army; The Airpower Combination; "Forward...From the Sea"; Allegations of Humility.
- Costello, John, BrigGen, USA. Plenty of Room for Valor: Roles and Missions Reform Is Not a "Zero-Sum" Game. Armed Forces Journal International 132:47 Jan '95.
- Editorial: Lessons in Efficiency-It's Time the Air Force Is Once Again Made a Part of the Army. Navy Times 44:25 Jan 23 '95.
- Facing Up to Space: An AFA Task Force Says It's Time To Decide "Who's in Charge?" and Other Pressing Questions. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 78:50-54 Jan '95.

 This article is adapted from a report of the Air Force Association Advisory Group on Military Roles and Missions.
- Foote, Sheila. Roles Chief Backs Privatization, Joint Vision, Budget Process Reform. <u>Defense</u> <u>Daily</u> 186:241-242 Feb 16 '95.
- Foote, Sheila. Roles Panel Wants More Details on Army Helicopter Proposal. <u>Defense Daily</u> 186:143-144 Jan 31 '95.
- Foss, John W., Gen, USA(Ret). The Army Leads on Land: Marines Aren't Suited for a Greater Role in Ground Operations. <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 132:36+ Jan '95.
- Fryer, James W., Capt, USAF. Flying with the Bone: Instead of Arguing over Who Is Best Suited for Power Projection, the Navy and the Air Force Should Learn To Fight Together-By Teaming the B-1B "Bone" and Naval Air in Joint Littoral Warfare. <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 121:49-52 Feb '95.
- Glashow, Jason and Holzer, Robert. AF Role Proposal Riles Other Service Leaders. <u>Defense</u> News 10:6 Feb 27/Mar 5 '95.
- Glashow, Jason. and Holzer, Robert. Missions Panel Considers Merging Civilian, Military Staffs. Defense News 10:42 Mar 27/Apr 2 '95.
- Glashow, Jason. and Holzer, Robert. Services Claim Bias in Roles Report. <u>Defense News</u> 10:4 Mar 13-19 '95.
- Goodman, Glenn W., Jr. The Power of Information: Air Force Clarifies Its Misunderstood Virtual Presence Concept. <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 132:24 Jul '95.

- Goodman, Glenn W., Jr. Virtual Overseas Presence: Air Force Redefines the Strategic Security Landscape. <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 132:12 Apr '95.

 Beyond Bombers vs. Carriers: What's Really at Stake in Services' Turf Battle? by CMDR Christopher M. Wode, USN, pp29-30.
- Goodman, Glenn W., Jr. Who'll Kick in the Door? Behind the Scenes, Army and Marines Debate the Forcible Entry Mission. <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 132:10 Jan '95.
- Holzer, Robert. U.S. Service Rivalry Spills into Roles Commission Operation. <u>Defense News</u> 10:14 Apr 24-30 '95.
- Jannery, Beth. Air Force General Proposes Rewriting Defense Department Directive: MajGen Link Claims Roles and Missions Will Not Change. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, p6, Feb 22 '95.
- Krepinevich, Andrew F., Jr. Recasting Military Roles and Missions. <u>Issues in Science and Technology</u> 11:41-48 Spring '95.
- Lamb, Christopher. Perspectives on Emerging SOF Roles and Missions. <u>Special Warfare</u> 8:2-9 Jul '95.

 See also: Yarborough, William P., LtGen, USA(Ret). Emerging SOF Roles and Missions: A Different Perspective, pp10-12.
- Link, Charles D., MajGen, USAF. Unintended Consequences: The Roles and Missions Debate Is Yielding Unexpected Insights. <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 132:55 Mar '95.
- Lynch, Thomas C., RADM, USN. Critical Look at Who Does What. <u>U.S. Naval Institute</u> <u>Proceedings</u> 121:86+ May '95.
- Marine Corps General (MajGen Thomas Wilkerson) Hits Panel's Focus on Resources, Not Roles.

 <u>Defense Daily</u> 186:432 Mar 24 '95.
- Matthews, William. Ready, Willing and Able? Roles Panel Will Define the Jobs of the Reserves.

 Navy Times 44:18 Jan 23 '95.
- McPeak, Merrill A., Gen, USAF(Ret). The Roles and Missions Opportunity. <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 132:32-34 Mar '95.
- Otis, Glenn K., Gen, USA (Ret). Shuffling Assets Isn't the Answer: There Are No "Deep Battles" and "Close Battles." <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 132:36-37 May '95.
- Pexton, Patrick and Lawson, Chris. What's at Stake. Navy Times 44:12-14 Jan 23 '95.

 Worst Case, the Navy Could Be Cut Off by a Third-But Don't Bet on It: Navy Makes Its Case for Forward Presence, by Patrick Pexton, pp12+.

 Marines Have Everything To Lose, Much To Defend: Marines Argue They're More than Just a Naval Infantry, by Chris Lawson, pp13-14.

The Battleground: The Main Issues, p13.

- Pexton, Patrick and others. (ADM) Boorda Changes the Rules. Navy Times 44:12-14 Feb 6 '95.
- Prina, L. Edgar and Hessman, James D. Visions, Views, and Values: An Integration of Diversity. Sea Power 38:33-38 May '95.

- Robinson, John. Air Force Rekindles Debate with Navy on Forward Presence. <u>Defense Daily</u> 186:26-27 Jan 9 '95.
- Rosenberg, Eric. Air Force Takes Renewed Aim at Navy in Roles, Missions Debate. <u>Defense</u> Week 16:1+ Jan 9 '95.
- Rosenberg, Eric. Commission's Draft Deep Strike Paper Sets Off Alarm Bells-Is Draft Biased Towards Air Force? <u>Defense Week</u> 16:1+ Mar 6 '95.
- Rosenberg, Eric. Data Dispute Heats Up at the Roles and Missions Commission (Air Force cost comparisons of bombers to Navy aircraft carriers have set off a war of words and numbers in the Pentagon's roles and missions debate). Defense Week 16:5 Jan 23 '95.
- Rosenberg, Eric. Deep Strike Debate Shows Breaking Rice Bowls Is Dicey. <u>Defense Week</u> 16:5 Mar 27 '95.
- Rosenberg, Eric. Navy's Roles and Missions Chief (RADM Thomas Lynch) Slams Deep Attack Paper. <u>Defense Week</u> 16:6 Mar 20 '95.
- Stavem, Christine. Army Claims Tension with USAF over Roles Now Eased. <u>Defense Week</u> 16:6 Jan 9 '95.
- Stavem, Christine. Army Official: Deep Attack Debate Won't Impact Commission. <u>Defense Week</u> 16:12 Apr 10 '95.
- USAF Explains Glossy McPeak Roles, Mission Book. Defense Week 16:5 Jan 23 '95.
- Wages, Brian E., Col, USAF(Ret). Circle the Carriers: Why Does "Virtual Presence" Scare the Navy? <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 132:26+ Jul '95.
- Watkins, Steven. (Gen) Fogleman Rejects Plea (Joins Gen. McPeak in Effort To Cut Number of Carriers). Air Force Times 55:3 Jan 16 '95.

The Final Report, May 1995

Books

- Krepinevich, Andrew F. Missed Opportunities: An Assessment of the Roles & Missions

 Commission Report. Washington, Defense Budget Report, 1995. 45 p.

 Book call no.: 355.43 K92m
- U.S. Commission on Roles and Missions of the Armed Forces. <u>Directions for Defense</u>. Report of the Commission on Roles and Missions of the Armed Forces, John P. White, Chairman. Arlington, VA, 1995. 1 vol.
 Book call no.: R 355.033073 U58da

Document

Library of Congress. Congressional Research Service. Military Roles and Missions: A

Framework for Review, by John M. Collins. Washington, May 1995. 104p. (CRS Report for Congress 95-517 S).

Doc. call no.: M-U 42953-1 no.95-517 S

- Chaisson, Kernan. New Roles and Missions Report Released. <u>World Aerospace & Defense</u> Intelligence No.721:11-12 Jun 2'95.
- Commission's Overall Summary. Defense Week 16:16-24 May 30 '95.
- End the Roles Debate. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, p10, Sep 6 '95. Reprinted from <u>Defense News</u>, p22, Sep 4-10 '95.
- Foote, Sheila. Roles and Missions Report Backs Greater Joint Role. <u>Defense Daily</u> 187:281-282 May 25 '95.
- Fulghum, David A. '97 Bottom-Up Review To Spotlight Operations. <u>Aviation Week & Space Technology</u> 143:24-25 Sep 11 '95.
- Glashow, Jason and Holzer, Robert. Roles Panel Skirts Issue of Service Missions. <u>Defense News</u> 10:1+ Apr 24-30 '95. Roles Panel Proposes Minimal Depot Work, p14.
- Glashow, Jason and Holzer, Robert. Roles Report Spotlights Overseas Commanders. <u>Defense</u> News 10:6 May 29/Jun 4 '95.
- Goodman, Glenn W., Jr. Soft-Pedaling Roles & Missions: Commission Sidesteps the Most Contentious Issues. <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 132:15 Jul '95.
- Intelligence Commission Submits Work Plan to Congress. <u>Defense Daily</u> 187:366 Jun 12 '95.
- Matthews, William. DoD Roles Review Rolls On. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, pp1-2 Aug 29 '95. Reprinted from <u>Defense News</u>, p4, Aug 28/Sep 3 '95.
- Matthews, William. Perry Punts on Roles & Missions Report: More Study! <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, p9, Sep 5 '95.

 Reprinted from Navy Times, p25, Sep 11 '95.
- Naylor, Sean D. Roles Panel Seeks Cut of Total Army by 50,000. Army Times 55:3-4 Jun 5 '95.
- Pexton, Patrick and Watkins, Steven. Conclusion (of the Roles and Missions Panel): Not Much To Fix. Air Force Times 55:4 Jun 5 '95.
- Prina, L. Edgar. Roles and Missions Debate Enters Final Stages: DOD Comments Due in Late August. Sea Power 38:29-32 Aug '95.

- Robinson, John. Pentagon To Carry Out Most of Commission's Proposals. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, p6+, Aug 28 '95.

 Reprinted from Defense Daily, p288, Aug 28 '95.
- Robinson, John. Report Backs Revolutionary Privatization Effort. <u>Defense Daily</u> 187:282-284 May 25 '95.
- Roles & Missions Gives EA-6B Nod for Airborne Electronic Warfare. <u>Defense Daily</u> 187:295 May 26 '95.
- Roles Panel Takes No Stand on Additional B-2 Production. <u>Aerospace Daily</u> 174:305-306 May 25 '95.
- Roles Report Calls for Harmony among Services. Defense Week 16:15 May 30'95.
- Scott, William B. Panel's Report Backs Nonlethal Weapons. <u>Aviation Week & Space Technology</u> 143:50-51 Oct 16 '95.
- Shanahan, David, LtCol, USA. Roles Report Finds Its Mark: Commission Focuses on Broad Process Issues. <u>Defense News</u> 10:32 Jun 19-25 '95.
- White, John P. DOD Responds to Roles and Mission Commission Report Findings. <u>Defense Issues</u> 10,no.82:1-5 Aug 25 '95.

Air Force Roles and Missions

Books

- Builder, Carl H. The Icarus Syndrome: The Role of Air Power Theory in the Evolution and Fate of the U.S. Air Force. New Brunswick, NJ, Transaction Pubs, 1994. 299p. (Rand Studies). Book call no.: 358.403 B932i
- Herzog, Serge. <u>Defense Reform and Technology: Tactical Aircraft</u>. Westport, CT, Praeger, 1994. 206p.
 - Book call no.: 358.403 H582d
 - Chapter 5. The Nineties and Beyond, pp111-147.
- Martin, Jerome V., LtCol,USAF. <u>Victory from Above: Air Power Theory and the Conduct of Operations Desert Shield and Desert Storm</u>. Maxwell AFB, AL, Jun 1994. 98p. (ARI Command-Sponsored Research Report No.AU-ARI-92-8).

Book call no.: 956.70442 M381v

Air Power Functions, Roles, and Missions, pp10-12.

Meilinger, Phillip S., Col, USAF. 10 Propositions Regarding Air Power. Washington, Air Force History and Museums Program, 1995. 86p.

Book call no.: 358.4 M513t

New Challenges for Defense Planning: Rethinking How Much Is Enough. Edited by Paul K. Davis. Santa Monica, CA, Rand Corp., 1994. 769p. (MR-400-RC).

Book call no.: 355.03 N5322

Chapter 13. The Use of Long-Range Bombers in a Changing World: A Classical Exercise in Systems Analysis, by Glenn C. Buchan, pp393-450.

Chapter 19. Modernizing Airpower Projection Capabilities: Looking To Get More Out of Less, by Edward R. Harshberger and Russ Shaver, pp593-617. Airpower's Changing Role, pp595-597.

RUSI and Brassey's Defence Yearbook 1992. Edited by The Royal United Services Institute for Defence Studies. London, Brassey's (UK), 1992. 293p.

Book call no.: 359.058 B82 1992

Global Air Power and Power Projection, by LtCol Phillip S. Meilinger, USAF, pp193-202.

U.S. Air Force. Air Force Issues Book-1993. Washington, 1993. 47p.

Book call no.: 358.400973 U58a 1993

A New Air Force, pp1-7.

U.S. Air Force. <u>Toward the Future: Global Reach-Global Power</u>. Washington, 1993. 1 vol. Book call no.: 358.400973 T737

U.S. Air Force White Papers, 1989-1992.

U.S. Air Force. The United States Air Force Report to the 102nd Congress of the United States of America, Fiscal Year 1992/93. Washington, 1992. 47p.

Book call no.: 358 A2982aa 1992/93

Introduction, pp1-3.

Force Structure Adjustments, pp30-34.

Includes White Paper "The Air Force and U.S. National Security: Global Reach-Global Power."

U.S. Air Force. Office of Legislative Liaison. <u>Air Force Issues Book 1994</u>. Washington, 1994. 43p.

Book call no.: 358.400973 U58a 1994

A Strong & Vital Air Force, pp1-3.

Power Projection Issues, pp5-14.

Documents

"Aerospace Power: Regional Conflict in the 1990s". A National Symposium Sponsored by the Air Force Association, February 17-18, 1994, Orlando, Florida. Arlington, VA, Aerospace Education Foundation, 1994. 87p.

Doc. call no.: M-U 42863-3

The Air Force Association. <u>Long-Range Airpower</u>. Report of the AFA Advisory Group on Military Roles & Missions. Arlington, VA, Jun 1993. 14p. (Air Force Association Special Report).

Doc. call no.: M-U 44053-1

Bash, Brooks L., Maj, USAF. <u>The Role of United States Air Power in Peacekeeping</u>. Maxwell AFB, AL, Air University Press, Jun 1994. 44p. (Air University. School of Advanced Airpower Studies. Thesis).

Doc. call no.: M-U 43998-1 B299r

Library of Congress. Congressional Research Service. <u>Military Operations Other Than Wart Implications for the U.S. Air Force</u>, by Sanford S. Terry, USAF National Defense Fellow. Washington, Mar 1994. 36p. (CRS Report for Congress 94-286 F).

Doc. call no.: M-U 42953-1 no.94-286 F

McDonnell Aircraft Company. <u>Maximizing U.S. Air Force Tactical Aircraft Mission</u>
<u>Effectiveness: A Multimission TACAIR 2000 Roadmap Study</u>. St. Louis, MO, Sep 1992.
15p.

Doc. call no.: M-U 42489-26

Figure 2. Powell Base Force Plan, p2. Base Force Level Needs, pp4-5.

Rand Corp. <u>NATO Airpower-Organizing for Uncertainty</u>, by Willard E. Nasland. Santa Monica, CA, 1993. 49p. (MR-215-AF). Doc. call no.: M-U 30352-84, no.215

Rand Corp. The New Calculus: Analyzing Airpower's Changing Role in Joint Theater Campaigns, by Christopher Bowie, Fred Frostic, Kevin Lewis, John Lund, David Ochmanek, and Philip Propper. Santa Monica, CA, 1993. 85p. (MR-149-AF). Doc. call no.: M-U 30352-83

Rand Corp. <u>Project Air Force Annual Report, Fiscal Year 1993</u>. Santa Monica, CA, 1993. 109p. (AR-3900-AF).

Doc. call no.: M-U 30352-39 FY 93

The Changing Spectrum of Air Force Missions, pp28-31.

Rand Corp. <u>Roles and Missions: Assessing Air Power Projection Forces</u>, by David Ochmanek and John Bordeaux. Santa Monica, CA, Feb 1993. 23p. (DRR-172-AF). Doc. call no.: M-U 30352-77 (Draft)

Therianos, Janet A., Maj, USAF. <u>Airpower as a Tool of Foreign Policy-Two Case Studies of Airpower's Use: The Philippines in 1941 and Berlin in 1948</u>. Moxwell AFB, AL, 1993. 71p. (Air University. School of Advanced Airpower Studies. Thesis).

Doc. call no.: M-U 43998-1 1399a

U.S. Air Force. <u>Theater Air Defense-Concept of Operations</u>. Washington, May 1994. 37p. Doc. call no.: M-U 42992-173

"...the Air Force view of a conceptual framework for developing an effective and efficient Theater Air Defense system."

- U.S. Air Force. Chief of Staff. <u>Presentation to the Commission on Roles and Missions of the Armed Forces</u>, by General Merrill A. McPeak. Washington, Sep 14, 1994. 206p. Doc. call no.: M-U 41365-29
- U.S. Air Force Systems Command. Program Integration and Planning Directorate. <u>Human-Centered Analysis of the Future Close Air Support/Battlefield Air Interdiction (CAS/BAI) Mission</u>. Brooks AFB, TX, Dec 1991. 2 vols.

Doc. call no.: M-U 43848 1991 no.0021

Volume I: Main Report. Volume II: Appendices.

Work performed by Science Applications International Corp., McLean, VA.

Manual

Basic Aerospace Doctrine of the United States Air Force. Mar 1992. 2 vols. (AFM 1-1)

Essay L: Aerospace Power Roles and Missions, Volume II, pp103-111. Essay M: The Tenets of Aerospace Power, Volume II, pp113-124.

Periodicals

Air Power Symposium. Strategic Review 23:56-68 Winter '95.

"Editor's Note: Carl Builder's recent book, 'The Role of Air Power Theory in the Evolution and Fate of the U.S. Air Force' created a great deal of debate both inside the Air Force and elsewhere... Strategic Review asked a number of individuals to examine Builder's thesis: the result is this symposium."

Getting the Future Right, by MajGen Robert E. Linhard, USAF.

Projecting Air Power, by Gen T. Ross Milton, USAF(Ret).

Bomber Pilots vs. Fighter Pilots? by Gen Bruce K. Holloway, USAF(Ret).

Air Power, by Arthur G.B. Metcalf.

Airpower at Center Stage: An AFA Task Force Examines Why Airpower Is the Critical Issue in the Roles and Missions Debate. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 76:60-63 Oct '93.

This article is adapted from "Long-Range Airpower: A Report of the AFA Advisory Group on Military Roles & Missions."

- Bingham, Price T., LtCol,USAF(Ret). The United States Needs To Exploit Its Air Power Advantage. <u>Airpower Journal</u> 7:62-71 Fall '93.
- Boatman, John. USAF Outlines Need for Air Defence System. <u>Jane's Defence Weekly</u> 21:10 Feb 5 '94.
- Callahan, David. Air Power Comes of Age: Technical and Doctrinal Advances Have Changed the Score in a Long-Running Military Debate. <u>Technology Review</u> 97:62-70 Aug-Sep '94. "With the end of the Cold War and the escalation of fiscal pressures on the U.S. government, it makes sense to attempt a further consolidation of the military establishment. Along with reducing redundancy in the armed forces, this move could allow for a force structure that better reflects the new effectiveness of air power."

Canan, James W. An Airpower Prescription. Air Force Magazine 76:79-80 Nov '93.

- Canan, James W. How Many Bombers Are Enough? The Air Force Anticipates the Bomber Fleet Dwindling to 100 Aircraft over the Next Ten Years. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 77:10-12 Feb '94.
 - "From the standpoint of the nation's air and space forces, there's a fairly good match between the force structure resulting from the Bottom-Up Review and the national military strategy of two MRCs," General McPeak said. "All this will make the force structure as defined in the BUR enormously more productive. Therefore, I'm quite confident that the Air Force will be in pretty good shape by the late nineties."
- Canan, James W. The Instrument of Airpower: The Air Force Held Its Own, and Then Some, in General Powell's Roles and Missions Report. The Debate, However, Is Far from Over. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 76:12-13+ Apr '93.
- Canan, James. W. McPeak Sums It Up. (The Chief sees more force cuts coming, but says air and space represents "sunrise" rather than "sunset" capabilities). <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 77:30-32+ Aug '94.
- Canan, James. W. New Life for the B-2? <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 77:10-12 Aug '94. The Bomber Debate Continues, by Brian Green, p9.
- Clodfelter, Mark, LtCol, USAF and Fawcett, John M., Jr., LtCol, USAF. RMA (Revolution in Military Affairs) and Air Force Roles, Missions, and Doctrine. <u>Parameters</u> 25:22-29 Summer '95.
- Cohen, Eliot. The Mystique of U.S. Air Power. Foreign Affairs 73:109-124 Jan-Feb '94.
- Compart, Andrew. Big Hit (Air Force released its latest force structure announcement-drawdown hits Guard and Reserve). <u>Air Force Times</u> 54:12-16 Mar 14 '94. Force Restructuring: Unit by Unit, pp14+.
- Correll, John T. The Air Force Sharpens Its Aim: Still More Adjustments Are Coming as Budgets Slip and Force Structure Slides. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 76:24-29 Apr '93.
- Correll, John. T. The High-Risk Military Strategy: The Two-War Standard Is Reasonable, but the Defense Program Is Too Thin and Rests on Too Many Optimistic Assumptions. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 77:34-42 Sep '94.

 Strategy's Airpower Requirements, pp37-42.
- Correll, John T. One Air Force: The Other Services Have Aviation Arms That Support Their Assigned Warfighting Roles. Editorial. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 76:2 Apr '93.
- Correll, John T. Readiness First: The Air Force Has Traded Off Force Structure and Much Else in Its Bid To Stay Modernized and Ready. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 77:12-14 Apr '94.
- Facing Up to Space: An AFA Task Force Says It's Time To Decide "Who's in Charge?" and Other Pressing Questions. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 78:50-54 Jan '95.

 This article is adapted from a report of the Air Force Association Advisory Group on Military Roles and Missions.

- Fedorchak, Scott A., Capt, USA. Close Air Support-Repeating the Past... Again? <u>Airpower</u> Journal 8:22-33 Spring '94.
 - "Like the other services, the Air Force is now redefining its role in the post-cold-war era, part of which is articulated in a recent white paper that identifies five principles as the foundation of the future Air Force and its strategy: sustaining deterrence, providing a versatile combat force, supplying rapid global mobility, controlling the high ground, and building US influence."
- Fogleman, Ronald R., Gen, USAF. Air Force in Operations Other than War. <u>Defense Issues</u> 10:1-5 Dec '94.
- Fogleman, Ronald R., Gen, USAF. Getting the Air Force into the 21st Century. <u>Vital Speeches</u> 61:434-438 May 1 '95.
- Gardiner, Sam. Preparing for the Next Quarter Century: What Should the Role of the United States Air Force Be? Comparative Strategy 12:263-276 Jul-Sep '93.
- Gehri, Suzanne B., LtCol, USAF. The Air Force Mission (Singular). <u>Airpower Journal</u> 6:17-24 Winter '92.
- Glashow, Jason and Holzer, Robert. USAF Aggressively Guns for Roles. <u>Defense News</u> 9:1+ Sep 12-18 '94.
- Gold, Philip. Airpower Offensive: The Force of the Future? No Nation Can Match the Capabilities of U.S. Military Airpower. The Debate among Defense Experts Is Whether Ground Forces Are Obsolete. <u>Insight on the News</u> 10:12-15 Jun 27 '94.
- Goodman, Glenn W., Jr. Commando Vision: Air Force Reserve's SOF Role To Change. <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 132:42 Dec '94.
- Graffis, Judy M., Capt, USAF. Strategic-Use with Care. <u>Airpower Journal</u> 8:4-10 Special Edition '94 (Bound after Issue no.4).
- Green, Brian. Readiness at Risk: If Present Trends Go Unchecked, Mission Capable Rates Could Drop Six Percent by Next Year, then Get "Rapidly Worse." Editorial. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 76:11 Oct '93.
- Gropman, Alan L., Col, USAF(Ret). Force Structuring the United States Air Force of the Future. Comparative Strategy 12:277-283 Jul-Sep '93.
- Holzer, Robert. New Missions Will Test U.S. Tactical Airpower. <u>Defense News</u> 10:6 Mar 13-19 '95.
- Lynch, David J. This Isn't the Bottom Yet. Air Force Magazine 77:22-27 Feb '94.
- McPeak, Merrill A., Gen, USAF. Ideas Count. Joint Force Quarterly No.1:22-24 Summer '93.
- McPeak, Merrill. A., Gen, USAF. The Key to Modern Airpower-The Future Tasking of the Air Force Will Spring from New, Nontraditional Challenges-Flexibility Is Increasingly Important as the Pace of Change Quickens. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 76:43-46 Sep '93.
- McPeak, Merrill. A., Gen, USAF. Roles and Missions of the United States Air Force: The Allocation of Responsibilities. <u>Vital Speeches</u> 60:682-684 Sep 1 '94.

Meilinger, Phillip S., Col, USAF. Towards a New Airpower Lexicon-Or Interdiction: An Idea Whose Time Has Finally Gone? <u>Airpower Journal</u> 7:39-47 Summer '93.

"...we must rethink our positions on the role of airpower in modern war, for Desert Storm suggests that a new world situation has combined with new technologies to usher in a new era of warfare. As we have seen, our traditional understanding of interdiction is becoming increasingly outmoded. It is time to revisit some basic premises and realize that future battles in the conventional realm will likely be fast-paced, fluid, and deadly. The dominance of maneuver and firepower means that airpower will at times support surface forces. But because of airpower's superior speed and firepower, surface forces will at other times support the dominant air effort by seizing and holding airfields, suppressing enemy air defenses, or making the enemy vulnerable to air attack by flushing him from prepared positions."

- Metz, Steven. The Air Force Role in United Nations Peacekeeping. <u>Airpower Journal</u> 7:68-81 Winter '93.
- Moorman, Thomas, LtGen, USAF. The "Space" Component of "Aerospace." <u>Comparative Strategy</u> 12:251-255 Jul-Sep '93.

 The Air Force Vision, pp251-253; Making the Vision Happen, pp253-255.

- Overlap in Space Programs Is 'Excessive,' McPeak Says. <u>Defense Daily</u> 184:418-419 Sep 15 '94.
- Record, Jeffrey. Into the Wild Blue Yonder-Should We Abolish the Air Force? <u>Policy Review</u> No.52:50-54 Spring '90.
- Rice, Donald B. The Air Force Vision. Policy Letter No.12:1 Dec '91.
- Shaver, Russell D. and others. The Case for Airpower Modernization. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 77:46-52 Feb '94.

A recent Rand analysis concludes that the lesson from the Gulf War is not that the US has enough airpower to meet future needs but that the capabilities exhibited in that war are a national asset that Washington should preserve and extend.

Swanberg, Arnold. How Much Is Enough? Flightline No.4:4-8 Spring-Summer '94.

"Perhaps one reason for the Navy's dominance in the 1993 plan (as they did in the 1933 plan) has been the influence of strategic military writers like Admiral Mahan on defense planning. But Admiral Mahan's Influence of Seapower on History was written at the beginning of this century and certainly well before the rise of stealth aircraft and strategic uses of airpower. There is no comparable airpower treatise currently available on the use of airpower in history, certainly none that would support a larger role of the Air Force."

Szafranski, Richard, Col, USAF. Annulling Marriages: Reframing the Roles, Missions, and Functions Debate. <u>Airpower Journal</u> 7:55-67 Winter '93.

"Aviation, air power, and aerospace operations are at the heart of the present roles, missions, and functions debate. ...the Air Force has organized, trained, and equipped itself to be the leading force in both air and space. The truth is that the Air Force intends that leadership to continue."

- Wages, Brian E., Col, USAF(Ret). Look to Bombers for Power Projection: Strategic Aircraft Are Lethal and Flexible. <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 132:58-59 Sep '94.
- Warning Signs on National Security: Air Force Association Statement of Policy, 1993-94. Editorial. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 76:2-3 Nov '93.

- Watkins, Steven. New (Air Force) Chief Will Have a Full Plate. <u>Air Force Times</u> 54:13-14 Mar 28 '94.
- Westenhoff, Charles M., LtCol, USAF. Why We Need an Air Force. <u>Joint Force Quarterly</u> No.6:62-67 Autumn-Winter '94-'95.
- Widnall, Sheila E. The Air Force's Future Space Vision. <u>Space News</u> 5:15 Nov 14-20 '94. Air Force Pursues Space Plane Plan, by Theresa Hitchens, pp4+. Lockheed, Air Force Continue Negotiating as Milstar 5, 6 Begin, by Steve Weber, p8.

Army Roles and Missions

Book

The United States Army: Challenges and Missions for the 1990s. Edited by Robert L. Pfaltzgraff, Jr. and Richard H. Shultz, Jr. Lexington, MA, D.C. Heath, 1991. 274p.

Book call no.: 355.00973 P523u

Documents

- Brown, Jack R., Maj, USA. The Army ... From the Sea: The Army's Initiative To Enhance Operational Agility. Newport, RI, Jun 1994. 31p. (Naval War College. Paper). Doc. call no.: M-U 41662 B8783a
- Latimer, John C., LtCol,USA. Army Roles, Missions and Organization for the Post Cold War. Carlisle Barracks, PA, U.S. Army War College, Apr 1993. 47p. (USAWC Military Studies Program Paper).

 Doc. call no.: M-U 39080-83 L357a
- Rand Corp. <u>USAREUR Force Structure: Adapting to a Changing World</u>, by Robert D. Howe and William D. O'Malley. Santa Monica, CA, 1993. 23p. (MR-104-A). Doc. call no.: M-U 30352-84 no.104
- U.S. Army. <u>Decisive Victory: America's Power Projection Army</u>. A White Paper. Washington, Oct 1994. 27p.

 Doc. call no.: M-U 35062-79
- U.S. Army. <u>Organization of the United States Army</u>. Washington, Jun 1994. 109p. (Dept of the Army Pamphlet 10-1).

Doc. call no.: M-U 35062 no.10-1

Introduction, pp1-2.

Army Roles, Missions, and Functions, pp3-4.

Changing National Military Strategy, pp7-8.

Summary, pp79-80.

Definitions (Roles: Missions: Functions:), pC-1.

The Army's Six Imperatives, pD-1.

U.S. Army Center of Military History. Roles and Missions of the United States Army: Basic Documents with Annotations and Bibliography, by Maj William W. Epley. Expanded Edition. Washington, 1993. 355p.

Doc. call no.: M-U 43594-10 1993

Periodicals

- Arnold, S. L., MajGen, USA and Stahl, David T., Maj, USA. A Power Projection Army in Operations Other Than War. <u>Parameters</u> 23:4-26 Winter '93-'94.
- Boatman, John. US Army May Take On Greater SEAD Role. <u>Jane's Defence Weekly</u> 20:12 Nov 20 '93.
- Boatman, John. US Army To Take Lead on CAS Development. <u>Jane's Defence Weekly</u> 20:7 Sep 25 '93.
- Ewing, Lee. The Shrinking Army: How Small Can It Get? <u>Army Times</u> 54:12-14+ Feb 7 '94. Table: Troop Strength Trends over 203 Years, pp12-13.

Table: How Low Can It Go? Strength Levels of U.S. Army from Beginning of

Drawdown to Present, p13.

Table: How Small an Army? The Debate Goes On, p14.

Table: Thirteen Years Drawing Down, p16.

- Fedorchak, Scott A., Maj, USA. Roles and Missions: The Army's Role in Amphibious Warfare.

 <u>Marine Corps Gazette</u> 79:76-83 Mar '95.
- Garner, Jay, MajGen, USA. Interview of the Assistant Deputy Chief of Staff for Operations and Plans, Force Development, by Barbara Starr. <u>Jane's Defence Weekly</u> 20:32 Nov 20 '93. "...the Army is extremely sensitive and defensive concerning any possibility of USAF assuming responsibility for ground based theater air defense."
- Hoffman, F. G., Maj, USMCR. More on America's 'Two Armies.' Marine Corps Gazette 79:43-44 Sep '95.
- Jablonsky, David, Col, USA(Ret). US Military Doctrine and the Revolution in Military Affairs.

 <u>Parameters</u> 24:18-36 Autumn '94.
- Jackson, John J., Maj, USMC. Roles and Missions: Another View of the Army's Role in Amphibious Warfare. Marine Corps Gazette 79:44-45 Jun '95.
- Lardner, Richard. The Glow Is Gone from the Army-Three Years after Desert Storm, the Army Is Losing Divisions and Is Short of Money. <u>Air Force Magazine</u> 77:62-66 Apr '94.
- Lind, William S. Rationalizing Army and Marine Corps Roles and Missions Through Operational Art. <u>Marine Corps Gazette</u> 78:35-36 Jul '94.
- Luddy, John. Reshaping the Army Reserves after the Cold War. <u>Backgrounder</u> No.910:1-10 Aug 6 '92.
- Matthews, William. Special Report-The Bottom's Out: Why the Military Cannot Fight Two Major Wars; Airfield Shortage Looms; Reality Check-No More Funds for Military. <u>Army Times</u> 54:12-14 Jun 20'94.

How the Review Hits the Army, by Sean D. Naylor, p13.

- Merritt, Jack N., Gen, USA. National Security Endangered: Proposals (of Bottom-Up Review)
 Could Break Army's Land Warfare Capability. <u>Army</u> 43:7-8 Dec '93.
 Statement made by Gen Merritt before the Military Forces and Personnel
 Subcommittee of the House Armed Services Committee on 27 October 1993.
- Peay, J. H. Binford, III, Gen, USA. America's Army: Versatility, the Key to Our Future. <u>Field Artillery</u> (The Red Book-An Annual Report) No.6:6-9 Dec '93.
- Peay, J. H. Binford, III, Gen, USA. Building America's Power-Projection Army. Military Review 74:4-15 Jul '94.
- The Pieces Fall Together (personnel and force structure plan envisioned in the Bottom-Up Review). Army Times 54:3+ Mar 14 '94.

 Testimony by General Gordon Sullivan and Army Secretary Togo West during congressional hearing March 2, 1994.
- Reece, Ralph G., Col, USA. The Future Force-A Reasoned Approach to Change: Moving Our Army into the Next Century Is a Journey, Not a Destination; We Know Where We Are Going, and We Are Moving Out. <u>Field Artillery</u> (The Red Book-An Annual Report) No.6:16-19 Dec '93.
- Steele, Dennis. 'America's Army... Into the 21st Century.' Army 44:17-21 Dec '94.
- Sullivan, Gordon R., Gen, USA. America's Army-Into the 21st Century. Army (1993-94 Green Book) 43:12-14+ Oct '93.

 The Army Vision, p18.
- Sullivan, Gordon R., Gen, USA. Force XXI-'A New Force for a New Century.' Army 44:25-26 May '94.

 Interview with Gen. Gordon R. Sullivan, 'The Army Is Leading the Way,' pp28-30+
- Sullivan, Gordon R., Gen, USA. Projecting Strategic Land Combat Power. <u>Joint Force Quarterly</u> No.1:8-12 Summer '93.
- Sullivan, Gordon R., Gen, USA and Twomey, Andrew B., LtCol, USA. The Challenges of Peace.

 Parameters 24:4-17 Autumn '94.

 Issues for the Army, pp9-17.
- Swan, Patrick. Roles and Missions. Soldiers 50:4-5 Jul '95.
- Tilelli, John H., Jr., LtGen, USA. The Army: America's Force for the Future. Army (1993-94 Green Book) 43:136-138+ Oct '93.
- Wilson, J. R. But Can It Win a Budget War? Army Aviation Can Dominate Every Battlefield but One. <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 131:36+ Apr '94.
- Wong, Leonard and McNally, Jeffrey. Downsizing the Army: Some Policy Implications Affecting the Survivors. Armed Forces & Society 20:199-216 Winter '94.

Navy Roles and Missions

Book

Anderson, Gary, Col, USMC. Beyond Mahan: A Proposal for a U.S. Naval Strategy in the Twenty-First Century. Newport, RI, Naval War College, Center for Naval Warfare Studies, Aug 1993. 50p. (Newport Paper #5). Book call no.: 359.03 A546b

Documents

- Arnold, Thomas E., LCDR, USN. <u>Employment of Non-Navy Aviation in Support of Maritime</u>

 <u>Operations in Littoral Regions</u>. Newport, RI, Nov 1993. 40p. (Naval War College. Paper).

 Doc. call no.: M-U 41662 A759e
- Cortellini, Louis J., LCDR, USN. Navy Doctrine for the Twenty-First Century. Newport, RI, Jun 1994. 29p. (Naval War College. Paper).

 Doc. call no.: M-U 41662 C827n
- Parson, Ronald G., LCDR, USN. <u>Counter-Air Operations</u>: <u>Doctrine for Littoral Operations</u>. Newport, RI, Feb 1993. 39p. (Naval War College. Paper). Doc. call no.: M-U 41662 P266c
- Tucker, Craig A., Maj, USMC. <u>Vision to Practice: The Translation of 'From the Sea' into Joint Doctrine</u>. Fort Leavenworth, KS, Jun 1944. 116p.

 Doc. call no.: M-U 42022 T8911v
- U.S. Dept of the Navy.From the Sea: Preparing the Naval Service for the 21st Century. Washington, 1993. 17p. (Navy and Marine Corps White Paper).

 Doc. call no.: M-U 42139-66
- U.S. Navy. Naval Warfare. Washington, Mar 1994. 76p. (Naval Doctrine Publication 1). Doc. call no.: M-U 41097-81 no.1

Periodicals

- Allen, Richard C., VADM, USN. The Naval Capabilities This Nation Needs. <u>Sea Power</u> 37:9-13 Jun '94.
- Benenson, Bob. Supporters of Aircraft Carrier Cutting Through Choppy Sea: Forces Citing National Security and Defense Jobs Are Outflanking Foes of \$5 Billion Ship. <u>Congressional Quarterly Weekly Report</u> 52:1315-1319 May 21 '94.
- Boorda, J. M., ADM, USN. The Art of the Long View: Enduring Naval Principles. <u>Vital Speeches</u> 61:132-135 Dec 15 '94.
- Boorda, J. M., ADM, USN. Time for a "...Sea" Change. <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:9-10 Aug '94.

 The Navy after Next, by Secretary John H. Dalton, p9.
- Breemer, Jan S. The End of Naval Strategy: Revolutionary Change and the Future of American Naval Power. <u>Strategic Review</u> 22:40-53 Spring '94.

- Breemer, Jan. S. Naval Strategy Is Dead (The White Paper "... From the Sea" announced that U.S. naval power in the next century will be resized, reshaped, and reindoctrinated to concentrate on crisis management and warfare in the world's littoral regions). <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:49-53 Feb '94.
- Burlage, John. Coast-to-Coast Makeover (changes in the Atlantic and Pacific fleets). Navy <u>Times</u> 44:3 Jul 17 '95.
- Corddry, Charles W. Navy Program Is Affordable and Executable, but There Still Are Many Risks. Sea Power (1994-Almanac Issue) 37:2-11 Jan '94.
- Courter, Jim and others. Scratch One Flattop? (Perfectly in tune with the emerging requirements of the new world order, carriers... are critical to coalition-building, demonstrating resolve, regional deterrence, and peace). <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:43-47 Sep '94.
- Covault, Craig. New Roles, Systems Expand U.S. Carrier Flexibility. <u>Aviation Week & Space Technology</u> 139:48-49 Sep 6 '93.
- Curtis, Ian G. S. Naval Force Planning Takes on a New Urgency as Roles, Missions, Technology and Budgets Change. <u>Defense & Foreign Affairs Strategic Policy</u> 23:8-9 May 31 '95.
- Dalton, John H., and Boorda, J. M., ADM, USN. ...From the Sea: Views from the Top. <u>Defense</u> <u>Issues</u> 9,no.53:1-4 Jun 16 '94.
- Dalton, John H., Boorda, Jeremy M., ADM, USN, and Mundy, Carl E., Jr., Gen, USMC. "Forward ... From the Sea" (Updated White Paper). Marine Corps Gazette 78:32-35 Oct '94.
- Department of the Navy 1994 Posture Statement. Marine Corps Gazette 78:16-25 Apr '94. New Roles, pp17-18.

 Our Vision, by John H. Dalton, Secretary of the Navy, pp18-19.
- DeYoung, Don. Sea Power Is Grand Strategy. <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:73-77 Nov '94.
- Dur, Philip A., RADM, USN. Presence-Forward, Ready, Engaged. <u>U.S. Naval Institute</u> <u>Proceedings</u> 120:41-44 Jun '94.
- Fallon, Willard G. Combating the Ballistic Missile Threat: The U.S. Navy Should Take the Next Step in the Evolution of Power Projection–And Embrace Sea-Based Ballistic Missile Defense as a Top Priority. <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:31-34 Jul '94.
- Galdorisi, George, CAPT, USN and Linder, Bruce, CAPT, USN. From the Sea to Where? <u>U.S.</u>
 Naval Institute Proceedings 121:67-70 Feb '95.
- Gray, Colin S. Sea Power-The Great Enabler. Naval War College Review 47:18-27 Winter '94.
- Gray, Colin S. Vision for Naval Space Strategy. <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:63-68 Jan '94.
- Hall, Thomas F., RADM, USN. Naval Reserve Roles and Missions Study. <u>Surface Warfare</u> 19:33 Sep-Oct '94.

- Holzer, Robert. "From the Sea" Challenges U.S. Navy To Adapt. <u>Defense News</u> 9:10+ Aug 15-21 '94.
- Holzer, Robert. U.S. Navy May Revise Fleet Plans: Current Mission Demands Press Resources for Future Modernization. <u>Defense News</u> 9:4+ Sep 12-18 '94.
- James, Shawn D., LT, USN. ...From the Bottom of the Sea. <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:25-29 Jun '94.
- Kelso, F. B., III, ADM, USN. Aircraft Carriers-Power Projection from the Sea. <u>NATO's Sixteen</u> Nations 39,no.1:80-82 '94.
- Kelso, Frank B., II, ADM, USN. The Wave of the Future ... From the Sea. <u>Joint Force Quarterly</u> No.1:13-16 Summer '93.
- Luddy, John and others. Charting a Course for the Navy in the 21st Century. <u>Backgrounder</u> No.979:1-21 Mar 9 '94.
- Mauz, Henry H., Jr., ADM, USN. The Value of Being There. <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:26-29 Aug '94.
- McKearney, T. J., CDR, USN(Ret). The Gator Stumbles (As capable as our Navy/Marine Corps amphibious team may be and as evident as its demonstrated skills have been, there still is reason to be concerned about the survivability of our amphibious forces in the post-Cold War era). U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings 120:35-40 Jan '94.
- Miller, Paul David, ADM, USN. The Military after Next: Shaping U.S. Armed Forces for the Next Century. U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings 120:41-44 Feb '94.
- Mundy, Carl E., Jr., Gen, USMC. Coping with Change: The Department of the Navy and the Future. <u>Strategic Review</u> 22:20-24 Winter '94.
- Mundy, Carl. E., Jr., Gen, USMC. Getting It Right "...From the Sea." <u>U.S. Naval Institute</u> Proceedings 120:69-71 Jan '94.
- Nolan, Mary I. Force 2001: The Shape of the Future Navy-SecNav Report Discusses "Four Guiding Principles." <u>Sea Power</u> 37:33-39 Feb '94.
- Owens, William, ADM, USN. Interview of Adm Owens on New Navy Priorities, by Barbara Starr. Jane's Defence Weekly 21:32 Jan 29 '94.
- Owens, William, ADM, USN. The Quest for Consensus. <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:68-72 May '94. Congressional Watch, by Tom Philpott, pp167-169.
- Parker, Thomas A., CDR, USN. The Navy Got It-Desert Storm's Wake-Up Call. <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:32-36 Sep '94.
 - "Naval aviation's shortcomings during Desert Storm were largely the result of choices in doctrine, training, equipment, and munitions made during the Cold War. The Navy's performance suffered in comparison to the Air Force's, whose Cold War vision was easily and successfully adapted to the Desert Storm campaign. The Navy's vision was not wrong, just incomplete. It failed to establish a serious joint operations capability. The Gulf War was a needed wake-up call, and it forced the Navy into the realization that the planning and execution of joint operations was the wave of the future."

- Picotte, Leonard P., RADM, USN. Fighting Joint: Littoral Warfare Is Not New to the Navy;... What Is New Is the Requirement To Operate Jointly, and the Navy Has the Tools for Success at Hand. <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:41-43 Jan '94.
- Rapé, Douglas C., LtCol,USMC. New Leader of the Pact: An Expanded NATO, To Include Former Warsaw Pact Nations, Can Help Ensure Stability, Prosperity, and Security in Europe. Naval Forces-Versatile, Rapidly Mobile, and Temporary-Offer the Sustainable Forward Presence Necessary for This Effort To Succeed. <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:68-71 Apr '94.
- Rhodes, Edward. New Money and Old Ships: Budget Reductions and the "Hollowing Out" of the US Fleet. <u>Defense Analysis</u> 10:79-90 Apr '94.
- Ryan, Stephen L. Will Financial Crisis Lead to Doctrinal Renaissance for the U.S. Navy? <u>Contemporary Southeast Asia</u> 15:343-356 Dec '93.
- Special Issue on Seapower-Theory and Practice. Edited by Geoffrey Till. <u>Journal of Strategic Studies</u> 17:entire issue Mar'94.

 Maritime Strategy and the Twenty-First Century, by Geoffrey Till, pp176-199.
- Strasser, Joseph C., RADM, USN. President's Notes (on new strategic vision). <u>Naval War</u> <u>College Review</u> 47:4-7 Winter '94.
- Walker, William B., LCDR, USN. Here Are the Submarines... Where Are the Tactics? <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:26-30 Jul '94.

 "The strategy promulgated in <u>...From the Sea</u> is, without a doubt, the most coherent and systematic approach to the new world order the Navy has yet taken."
- Ward, Don. Navy Fires Back at McPeak's Salvo (Officials are up in arms over the latest attack on the service's mission to span the globe, show the flag and be ready to strike at a moment's notice). Navy Times 43:8 Mar 4'94.
- Ward, Don. Navy Gambles Now for a Modern Future. Navy Times 43:6 Jan 31 '94.
- Winnefield, James A., Jr., CDR, USN. Staying the Course: "...From the Sea" Is an Effective Short-Term Solution to a Changing World, but Must Continue To Evolve-And Not Drive the Navy Too Close to Shore. <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:32-36+ May '94.
- Wode, Christopher M., CDR, USN. The Forward Warriors: The United States Must Revitalize Its Amphibious Fleet. Armed Forces Journal International 131:25-26 Mar '94.

Marine Corps Roles and Missions

Book

Millett, Allan R. <u>Semper Fidelis: The History of the United States Marine Corps.</u> Revised and Expanded Edition. New York, Free Press, 1991. 845p. (The Macmillan Wars of the United States).

Book call no.: 359.96 M653s 1991

Chapter 20. The Once and Future Corps-The 1990s, pp636-652.

Documents

- U.S. General Accounting Office. <u>Warfighting Capability: Some Army Tanks Should Be</u>
 <u>Transferred to the Marine Corps.</u> Report to Congressional Committees. Washington, Mar 1994. 16p. (GAO/NSIAD-94-93).

 Doc. call no.: M-U 41026-147 no.94-93
- U.S. Marine Corps. <u>A History of Marine Corps Roles and Missions, 1775-1962</u>. Washington, 1962. 36p. (Marine Corps Historical Reference Series Number 30). Doc. call no.: M-U 42139-73
- U.S. Marine Corps. <u>Marine Corps Mission Area Analysis MA-15</u>: <u>Military Operations Other Than War</u>. Final Report. Quantico, VA, Marine Corps Combat Development Command, Jan 1994. 1 vol.
 Doc. call no.: M-U 42139-72
- U.S. Marine Corps. The Role of the Marine Corps in the National Defense. Washington, Jun 1991. 1 vol. (FMFM 1-2).

 Doc. call no.: M-U 41752-4 No.1-2
- Van Dyke, Anthony E., Maj, USMC. <u>MEU(SOC)s and CINC's</u>. Newport, RI, Feb 1993. 25p. (Naval War College. Paper).

 Doc. call no.: M-U 41662 V248m

Periodicals

- Brennan, Robert, Maj, USMC. The MEF as a Warfighter? In Deciding the Future Role for the Marine Expeditionary Force, the Marine Corps Should Stick to What It Does Best-Amphibious and Expeditionary Warfare in the World's Littoral Regions. <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:36-38 Nov '94.
- Carns, Neil C., Capt, USMC and Coerr, Stanton S., Capt, USMC. (The U.S. Marine Corps) A True Force in Readiness. <u>U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings</u> 120:35-38 Aug '94.
- Chase, Eric L., Col, USMCR. Summing Up Roles and Missions: A Marine Corps Perspective.

 Marine Corps Gazette 79:60-66 Jul '95.
- Darrah, Dave, LtCol, USMC and HQMC Aviation Staff. US Marine Corps Airpower Update: The New Direction of the Navy and Marine Corps Team, Both Active and Reserve, Is To Provide the Nation with Naval Expeditionary Forces Operating Forward from the Sea. <u>Air Combat</u> 22:8-17+ Nov-Dec '94.
- Department of the Navy 1994 Posture Statement. Marine Corps Gazette 78:16-25 Apr '94. Remarks made by General Carl E. Mundy, Jr. before the House Armed Services Committee, 24 February 1994, p23.
- Duffield, Daniel M., Jr., Col, USMC(Ret). Have Mission, Will Travel: More and More, It's the Marines to the Rescue. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, pp5+, Aug 30 '94.
- Estes, Kenneth W., LtCol, USMC(Ret). A Well-Led Corps, Spared from Devastating Cuts in Numbers, Looks Ahead with Confidence. <u>Sea Power</u> (1994 Almanac Issue) 37:14-23 Jan '94.

- Focus on Roles and Missions: The Corps' Capabilities. Marine Corps Gazette 78:16-33 Dec '94. The Roles and Missions Debate, by Maj Jon T. Hoffman, USMCR, pp16-19. What's at Stake? by Col Stephen A. Cheney, pp19-21. How Many Marine Corps Does the Nation Need? by Maj John J. Jackson, pp22-25. Better, Faster, Cheaper: The Effectiveness of the Marine Corps, by Maj John J. Jackson, pp26-29.

 The Value of Marine Aviation, by Col Robert S. Melton, pp30-33.
- Henderson, F. P., BrigGen, USMC. A New Era for Marine Aviation? Now Is the Time To Make the Case Why Marine Air Exists-To Enable Its Ground Elements To Win Battles. <u>Marine</u> Corps Gazette 78:24-25 Feb '94.
- Krulak, Charles C., Gen, USMC. The 31st Commandant's Intent. Marine Corps Gazette 79:18-19 Jul '95.
- Krulak, Charles C., Gen, USMC. The 31st Commandant's Planning Guidance: A Marine Corps for the 21st Century. Marine Corps Gazette 79, suppl: A1-A21 Aug '95.
- Krulak, Charles C., Gen, USMC. A Marine Corps for the 21st Century. <u>Marine Corps Gazette</u> 79:12-13 Aug '95.
- Krulak, Charles C., LtGen, USMC. Projecting Combat Power Ashore: The Marine Corps in Transition. <u>Armed Forces Journal International</u> 131:27-28 Mar '94.
- Lind, William S. Rationalizing Army and Marine Corps Roles and Missions Through Operational Art. <u>Marine Corps Gazette</u> 78:35-36 Jul '94.
- Linn, Thomas C., LtCol, USMC. Debating Marine Corps Roles and Missions. Marine Corps Gazette 79:84-88 Mar '95.
- Linn, Thomas C. Why We Need the Marines. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, p15, Aug 9 '95. Reprinted from <u>Wall Street Journal</u>, p8, Aug 9 '95.
- Linn, Thomas C., LtCol, USMC and Neimeyer, C. P., LtCol, USMC. Once and Future Marines. Joint Force Quarterly No.6:47-51 Autumn-Winter '94-'95.
- Luddy, John and others. Charting a Course for the Navy in the 21st Century. <u>Backgrounder</u> No.979:1-21 Mar 9 '94.
 Pillar #2 of Naval Power: Projecting Power Ashore, pp7-14.
- Marine Corps Draft Concept Calls for New Warfighting Roles. <u>Current News Early Bird</u>, p 7, Sep 16 '94.
- Mundy, Carl E., Jr., Gen, USMC. Complementary Capabilities from the Sea. <u>Joint Force</u> <u>Quarterly</u> No.1:17-21 Summer '93.
- Mundy, Carl E., Jr. Gen, USMC. Coping with Change: The Department of the Navy and the Future. Strategic Review 22:20-24 Winter '94.
- Mundy, Carl E., Jr., Gen, USMC. Marine Corps Developing Flexible, Potent Systems: Advanced Technologies, Multipurpose Approach Underpin Vision of 21st Century Requirements.

 National Defense 78:18-19 Apr '94.
 - Amphibious Clout Spells Success for Warfighter: Marine Corps' Operational Effectiveness in Regional Conflicts Is Projected from the Sea, by LtCol T.C. Linn, pp20-21.

- Mundy, Carl E., Jr., Gen, USMC. Service Roles, Functions: Reinforcing Overlap. <u>Defense Issues</u> 9,no.39:1-3 Apr 28 '94.

 Marine Corps Downsizing, p3.
- Mundy, Carl E., Jr., Gen, USMC. Strategy for a New Era: The Enduring Capabilities of the Marine Corps Make It a Certain Force in an Uncertain World. Retired Officer Magazine 50:54-58 Nov '94.
- Rohrabacher, Dana, U.S. Rep and others. "Now We Know... We Need Marines." <u>Amphibious Warfare Review</u> 12:5-6+ Summer-Fall '94.
 - The U.S. Marine Corps and the American Way of Defense, by LtCol Thomas C. Linn, pp30-33.
 - Operational Maneuver "...From the Sea," by CDR Christopher M. Wode, pp34-37.
- Silverstein, David. As the Military Is Cut, America Still Needs the Marines. <u>Backgrounder</u> No.871:1-14 Jan 13 '92.
- Weh, Allen E., Col, USMCR. The Marines and Total Force: 1997. Marine Corps Gazette 78:20-23 Mar '94.
 - Restructuring the Reserves: A Bottom-to-Top Approach, by Capt Glenn E. Gearhard and CWO3 James M. Roussell, USMCR, pp23-26.
- Wilkerson, Thomas L., MajGen, USMC. An Institutional Challenge: Rethinking Roles and Missions. Marine Corps Gazette 78:14-15 Oct '94.
- Wilkerson, Thomas L., MajGen, USMC. The Roles and Missions Debate: A View from the Marine Corps: Interview. <u>Defense Week</u> 15:8-9+ Oct 24 '94.
- Williams, Thomas W., LtCol, USMC. (MEU/SOC): The Jewel in the Crown of Our Corps. Marine Corps Gazette 78:30-32 Mar '94.
 - MEU(SOC)-Once a Threat, Now Threatened, by Col Matthew E. Broderick, pp33-35. Editorial: Balancing Forward Deployment & Forcible Entry, p223.